
MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
REGULAR MEETING OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

November 1, 2023 
2:00 p.m.       Classrooms 1, 2 & 3 

 
    

AGENDA 

I. Call to Order Barbara Sowada 

 A.  Roll Call  

B. Pledge of Allegiance   

C. Mission and Vision Barbara Sowada 

D. Mission Moment Irene Richardson, Chief Executive Officer 

II. Agenda (For Action)  Barbara Sowada 

III. Minutes (For Action) Barbara Sowada 

IV. Community Communication  Barbara Sowada 

V. Education Barbara Sowada 

 A. Planetree International Conference Highlights Cindy Nelson, Patient Experience Coordinator 

  Karali Plonsky, Quality Analyst 

VI. Old Business Barbara Sowada 

A. Employee Policy–Non-Discrimination & Anti-Harassment (Remains under review/development, no request for action) 

B. Human Resources Charter (For Action) Kandi Pendleton 

C. Compliance Committee Charter (For Action) Kandi Pendleton 

D. Governance Committee Charter (For Action) Barbara Sowada 

E. Finance & Audit Committee Charter (For Action) Marty Kelsey 

VII. New Business (Review and Questions/Comments) Barbara Sowada 

A. Board Policy - Approval Process for Expansion of or Addition Barbara Sowada 

to Hospital Services (For Review) 

B. Residents In Training Policy (For Review)    Kerry Downs, Medical Staff Services Director 

VIII. Chief Executive Officer Report  Irene Richardson 

IX.  Committee Reports 

A. Compliance Committee Kandi Pendleton 

B. Governance Committee Barbara Sowada 

C. Quality Committee Kandi Pendleton 

D. Human Resources Committee  Kandi Pendleton 

E. Finance & Audit Committee         Marty Kelsey 

1. Information Technology Report 

2. Bad Debt (For Action) 

3. Finance & Audit Committee Meeting Information 

F. Building & Grounds Committee Marty Kelsey 

1. Construction Manager At Risk (CMAR) Selection (For Action) Marty Kelsey 

G. Foundation Board Craig Rood 

H. Executive Oversight and Compensation Committee  Barbara Sowada 

I. Joint Conference Committee                                        Barbara Sowada 

1/179



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
REGULAR MEETING OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

November 1, 2023 
2:00 p.m.       Classrooms 1, 2 & 3 

 
    

AGENDA 

 

IX. Contract Review         Suzan Campbell, In House Counsel 

A. Consent Agenda (For Action) 

1. Clifton Larsen Allen Statement of Work 

2. Stryker MAKO 

X. Medical Staff Report Dr. Brianne Crofts, Medical Staff Services President 

XI. Good of the Order           Barbara Sowada 

XII. Executive Session (W.S. §16-4-405(a)(ix)) Barbara Sowada 

XIII. Action Following Executive Session Barbara Sowada 

A. Request for Privileges (For Action) 

XIV. Adjourn Barbara Sowada 

2/179



OUR MISSIONOUR MISSION  

Compassionate care for 

every life we touch. 

OUR VISIONOUR VISION  

To be our community’s trusted 

healthcare leader. 

OUR VALUESOUR VALUES  

Be Kind 

Be Respectful 

Be Accountable 

Work Collaboratively 

Embrace Excellence 

 

OUR STRATEGIESOUR STRATEGIES  

Patient Experience 

Quality & Safety 

Workplace Experience 

Growth, Opportunity & Community 

Financial Stewardship 

3/179



 

MINUTES FROM THE REGULAR MEETING 

MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 

BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

 

October 4, 2023 
 

 

The Board of Trustees of Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County met in regular session on 

October 4, 2023, at 2:00 p.m. with Dr. Barbara Sowada, President, presiding. 

 

 

CALL TO ORDER 

 

Dr. Sowada welcomed everyone and called the meeting to order. 

 

Dr. Sowada requested a roll call and announced there was a quorum. The following Trustees were 

present: Mr. Marty Kelsey, Mr. Craig Rood, and Dr. Barbara Sowada.  

Excused: Ms. Kandi Pendleton. 

 

Officially present during the meeting: Ms. Irene Richardson, Chief Executive Officer; Mr. Taylor 

Jones, County Commissioner Liaison; Dr. Brianne Crofts, Medical Staff Services President, and 

Mr. Geoff Phillips, Legal Counsel. 

 

Pledge of Allegiance 

 

Dr. Sowada led the attendees in the Pledge of Allegiance. 

 

Our Mission and Vision 

 

Mr. Rood read aloud the mission and vision statements.  

 

Mission Moment 

 

Ms. Richardson shared a message from former Trustee, Mr. Ed Tardoni, and his wife, Mrs. Joanna 

Tardoni, and a beautiful photography print of the blue moon on a metal plate for hanging. Mr. 

Tardoni’s note states a blue moon is a rare event that occurs only at the closest approach to earth. 

Mr. Tardoni said the print is reflective and the viewer can see their face in the photo. The lower 

left corner of this spectacular photo contains the words, "In this life we only meet people like you 

once in a blue moon.” The note states the gift is given with the wish it will provide support and 

aid when the infusion nurses in the Cancer Center face a tough day. Ms. Richardson thanked the 

Tardonis and said she will forward the print to the Cancer Center to display where visitors and 

patients may see it.  

 

AGENDA 

 

The motion to approve the agenda as amended to table the Employee Policy under Old Business 

and affirm Mr. Rood as Vice President under New Business was made by Mr. Rood; second by 

Mr. Kelsey. Motion carried.  

 

4/179



 

 

Minutes of the October 4, 2023, Board of Trustees Meeting 

Page 2 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

 

The motion to approve the minutes of the September 6, 2023, regular meeting as presented was 

made by Mr. Rood; second by Mr. Kelsey. Motion carried.  

 

COMMUNITY COMMUNICATION 

 

Commissioner Jones said he needed to leave the meeting early due to another meeting. Dr. 

Sowada thanked him for attending. Dr. Sowada announced the Trustees would break at 4:00 p.m. 

to participate in an event in The Healing Garden in support of the Hospital and Oncology 

Department cancer awareness event.  

 

OLD BUSINESS 

 

2023-24 Memorandum Of Understanding Between The Sweetwater County Board Of 

Sweetwater County Commissioners And The Memorial Hospital Of Sweetwater County 

 

Dr. Sowada reviewed the process to-date regarding the Memorandum of Understanding (MOU). 

She said the Trustees approved an earlier version in August. Changes were made so approval of 

the final version is needed. Mr. Phillips provided an overview and said it is in effect for one year. 

He said it separates completely the Title 25 funds from what is budgeted for maintenance. Mr. 

Phillips expressed appreciation to the County Commissioners for their work through this process. 

The motion to approve the MOU as presented was made by Mr. Rood; second by Mr. Kelsey. 

Motion carried. Dr. Sowada thanked Ms. Richardson, Mr. Phillips, Commissioner Jones and 

everyone involved in the process. 

 

NEW BUSINESS 

 

FY23 Audit Report 

 

Ms. Richardson introduced Mr. Darryn McGarvey from Clifton Larsen Allen (CLA) and thanked 

him for a great audit. She said CLA is very thorough and does an excellent job. Ms. Richardson 

said we learn from them every year. She said CLA has a great team. Ms. Richardson thanked the 

MHSC team and stressed this is a great team effort. Mr. McGarvey thanked the Hospital team and 

the Board of Trustees. He reviewed the audit report. Mr. McGarvey said the CLA staff that work 

on the Hospital audit primarily work on hospital audits only. The CLA team was onsite the first 

week in August and prepared the audit and financial statements with the assistance of MHSC staff. 

He said the Cerner EHR was the most significant item in the new accounting standard GASB96. 

Mr. McGarvey said material weaknesses are a major part of the process and there were none 

identified. He said CLA tries to bring things to the table every year to help the organization 

improve. He noted some of the impacts from COVID reflected in the presentation data. He said 

we have seen improvements in the operating loss per provider data over the past few years. Visits 

per FTE have increased. Days of cash on hand were at 100 days and we had a massive EHR 

conversion in the middle of all of this. Mr. McGarvey said all organizations increase days in A/R 

related to an EHR conversion. He said the key is how quickly we bring that back down and charity 

care has trended downward. Mr. McGarvey said there is information included in the audit report  

for board education. Dr. Sowada thanked Mr. McGarvey for his presentation. Mr. Kelsey thanked 

5/179



 

 

Minutes of the October 4, 2023, Board of Trustees Meeting 

Page 3 

Mr. McGarvey for his work and said they always do a great job. The motion to approve the FY23 

Audit Report as presented was made by Mr. Kelsey; second by Mr. Rood. Motion carried.   

 

Human Resources Charter 

 

Dr. Sowada said the HR Charter has been slightly amended and will be returned next month for 

approval. 

 

Compliance Committee Charter 

 

Dr. Sowada said this is the first read and we will bring the charter back next month for approval. 

 

Governance Committee Charter 

 

Dr. Sowada said the recommended changes are in the packet and asked Mr. Kelsey to review. She 

said this is the first read and we will bring it back next month for approval. 

 

Finance & Audit Committee Charter 

 

Mr. Kelsey reviewed the recommended changes and said we will bring the charter back next month 

for approval. Mr. Kelsey expressed appreciation to everyone working on the committee charters.  

 

Vice President 

 

Dr. Sowada said Mr. Rood accepted stepping into the Vice President position. The motion to 

appoint Mr. Rood as Vice President for the 23/24 year as presented was made by Mr. Kelsey; 

second by Dr. Sowada. Motion carried. 

 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER REPORT 

 

Ms. Richardson reviewed person-centered care initiatives and highlighted the Patient & Family 

Advisory Council. She thanked the Medical Staff for working with us on the efforts to improve 

patient experience. Ms. Richardson provided a Critical Access Hospital status update. She gave a 

huge thank you to CLA and the MHSC audit team. The Board and Senior Leaders will meet 

November 13 and 14 for a Strategic Plan Retreat. Ms. Richardson said we continue to prepare for 

a visit from The Joint Commission for our survey. She thanked all staff for their work preparing. 

Quarterly Town Hall meetings are scheduled the week of October 16. Ms. Richardson said she 

attended the American Hospital Association Regional Policy Board meeting in Washington D.C. 

She met with many legislators and said we have to set the narrative for ourselves. She said she 

appreciates having the opportunity to attend. Ms. Richardson said we must keep the Hospital here 

for our community as a full-service hospital. She announced upcoming events and invited 

everyone to participate. She thanked staff, the Commissioners, physicians, the Board, and our 

community for supporting us to be here to take care of our community. 

 

  

6/179



 

 

Minutes of the October 4, 2023, Board of Trustees Meeting 

Page 4 

COMMITTEE REPORTS 

Quality Committee 

 

Dr. Sowada said at last month’s meeting, the Board’s education was Veralon videos on quality. 

She said the videos asked what are the top 5 quality issues at your hospital? Dr. Sowada invited 

Dr. Kari Quickenden, Chief Clinical Officer, and Ms. Kara Jackson, Director of Quality          

Accreditation, Patient Safety, and Risk, to review highlights from the most recent Quality 

Committee meeting. They said their top 5 areas of focus are: 1) Medication Safety, 2) Sepsis, 3) 

Falls, 4) Patient Safety Processes & Principles in General, 5) Patient Experience. They said they 

all tie together and align with our Process Improvement and Patient Safety (PIPS) priorities. Ms. 

Jackson said over the last couple of years the entire organization has worked on quality and safety 

indicators. She said we have seen a lot of improvement. Collaboration through providers, staff, 

and various departments has made the difference. Ms. Richardson gave kudos to leaders making 

meetings happen to look at opportunities for improvement. Dr. Sowada thanked them for sharing 

the information and thanked everyone for all the work being done.  

 

Human Resources Committee 

 

Mr. Rood said the Committee focused discussions on updates to a policy on anti-harassment and 

non-discrimination.   

 

Finance and Audit Committee 

 

Capital Expenditure Requests - Mr. Kelsey said the Committee approved one capital expenditure 

request from staff. The motion to approve FY 24-15 for $316,565 as presented for a budgeted sole 

source item from Siemens for replacement x-ray equipment was made by Mr. Kelsey; second by 

Mr. Rood. Motion carried.  

 

Information Technology Report – Mr. Kelsey noted the large number of systems the IT 

Department keeps running. He said it is a good department doing a lot of good things. Ms. 

Richardson said cybersecurity is a huge threat and thanked Mr. Terry Thompson, Director, and the 

staff for keeping us as safe as we can be. Mr. Thompson thanked Ms. Richardson and the Board 

for their support.  

 

Bad Debt – The motion to approve the potential bad debt of $1,519,194.77 as presented was made 

by Mr. Kelsey; second by Mr. Rood. Motion carried.  

 

Finance & Audit Committee Meeting Information – Mr. Kelsey said the report is in the meeting 

packet along with the financial data. He said it is a great report. 

 

Building and Grounds 

 

Mr. Kelsey said there is a lot going on and said the information is in the meeting packet.  

 

  

7/179



 

 

Minutes of the October 4, 2023, Board of Trustees Meeting 

Page 5 

Foundation 

 

Dr. Sowada noted the report is in the meeting packet. Mr. Rood said the Foundation is working on 

replacing his position on the Board of Directors. He also asked everyone to save the date of 

February 3, 2024, for the next Red Tie Gala. 

 

Compliance Committee 

 

Dr. Sowada said the information is in the meeting packet.  

 

Governance Committee 

 

Dr. Sowada said the information is in the meeting packet.  

 

Executive Oversight and Compensation Committee 

 

Dr. Sowada said the Committee did not meet. 

 

Joint Conference Committee 

 

Dr. Sowada said the Committee has not met.  

 

BOARD EDUCATION 

 

Dr. Sowada said several people had difficulty accessing the webinar on The Governance Institute 

site. Mr. Kelsey said he was able to review the webinar and said it was very good and the topic of 

mental health is very serious. Dr. Sowada suggested revisiting discussion of the webinar at a later 

date. 

 

MEDICAL STAFF REPORT 

 

Dr. Crofts said she completed her proctoring of the DaVinci and will work with Urology and OB 

to help them move forward. She said we are very grateful Dr. Hoffman joined us as well as Dr. 

Poundstone. Dr. Crofts said the Medical Staff are working on bylaws updates and in the process 

of selecting Department Chairs.  

 

GOOD OF THE ORDER 

Mr. Kelsey suggested adding “personal vision for the Hospital” when the Trustees rotate through 

on sharing the mission and vision for the Hospital each month. Dr. Sowada said different lenses 

are like a kaleidoscope and suggested we may ask some of the staff to share their personal visions 

for the Hospital, as well.  

 

Dr. Sowada thanked everyone in attendance and reminded everyone about the Cancer Center 

special ceremony in The Healing Garden at 4:00 p.m. 

  

8/179



 

 

Minutes of the October 4, 2023, Board of Trustees Meeting 

Page 6 

EXECUTIVE SESSION 

 

The motion to go into executive session at 3:26 p.m. was made by Mr. Kelsey; second by Mr. 

Rood. Motion carried. Dr. Sowada said there would be a 10-minute break. 

 

RECONVENE INTO REGULAR SESSION 
 

The motion to leave executive session and return to regular session at 4:55 p.m. was made by Mr. 

Rood; second by Mr. Kelsey. Motion carried.  

 

ACTION FOLLOWING EXECUTIVE SESSION 

 

Approval of Privileges 
 

The motion to approve the list of clinical privileges and granting appointments to the Medical Staff 

as discussed in executive session was made by Mr. Kelsey; second by Mr. Rood. Motion carried. 

Credentials Committee Recommendations to the Board of Trustees for Granting Clinical 

Privileges and Granting Appointment to the Medical Staff from September 12, 2023 

1. Initial Appointment to Active Staff (2 years) 

 Dr. Brian Opferman, Emergency Medicine (U of U) 

 Dr. Arion Lochner, Emergency Medicine (U of U) 

2. Initial Appointment to Associate Staff (1 year) 

 Dr. Daniel Kogan, Neurology 

 Dr. George Kingsley, OB/GYN 

 Dr. Mitchel Faulkner, Emergency Medicine (U of U) 

 Dr. Benjamin Verseman, Emergency Medicine (U of U) 

 Dr. Hannah Loewenberg, Emergency Medicine (U of U) 

 Dr. Rowan Kelner, Emergency Medicine (U of U) 

3. Initial Appointment to Consulting Staff (1 years) 

 Dr. Holly Huang, Tele Stroke (U of U) 

 Dr. Veronica Moreno-Gomez, Tele Stroke (U of U) 

 Dr. Judea Wiggins, Tele Stroke (U of U) 

 Dr. Aaron Shoskes, Tele Stroke (U of U) 

4. Reappointment to Consulting Staff (2 years) 

 Dr. William Brann, Cardiovascular Disease 

 Dr. Gregory Kenyherz, Tele Radiology (VRC) 

 Dr. Michael Rethy, Tele Radiology (VRC) 

5. Reappointment to Non-Physician Staff (2 years) 

 Alisha Mackie, RN First Assist  

6. Initial Appointment to Consulting Staff (2 years) 

 Dr. Alan Pratt, Tele Radiology (VRC) 

 

 

  

9/179



 

 

Minutes of the October 4, 2023, Board of Trustees Meeting 

Page 7 

ADJOURNMENT 

There being no further business to discuss, the meeting adjourned at 4:56 p.m.   

      

    

  ______________________________________  

  Dr. Barbara Sowada, President 

Attest: 

 

 

_____________________________________ 

Ms. Kandi Pendleton, Secretary 

10/179



 
 

                     ORIENTATION MEMO 
 

 
 

Board Meeting Date:11/1/2023  
 
Topic for Old & New Business Items: 
Human Resources Committee Charter 
 
Policy or Other Document: 

 ☒ Revision 

 ☐ New 
 
Brief Senior Leadership Comments: 
Changes to meeting ‘Meeting Schedule’ – second page.  

 

 Board Committee Action: 

Do pass recommendation  
 
Policy or Other Document: 

     ☐ For Review Only 

 ☒ For Board Action 
 
Legal Counsel Review: 

 ☒ In House Comments:Counsel is a voting member of the HR 
Committee 

 ☐ Board  Comments:Click or tap here to enter text. 

 
Senior Leadership Recommendation: 
Do pass 

11/179



Human Resources Committee Charter 2022 Page 1  

Board Charter: The Human Resources Committee 
 

 
Category: Board Committees & Committee Charters 
Title: Human Resources Committee 
Original Adoption: June 14, 2010 
Revision: September 6, 2017; April 1, 2020; February 2, 2022; September 19, 2022 

 

 

Purpose: 
 

The purpose of the committee is to assist the Board in discharging its duties in respect to the 
oversight of the Hospital’s Human Resources function including, but not limited to, compliance, 
classification, compensation (including total rewards), policies, employee relations and safety. 
The creation and maintenance of an organizational culture that fosters a productive, engaged 
and safe workforce is a primary goal of the Committee. 

Authority: 

The committee has no expressed or implied power or authority. 

Responsibilities: 

In fulfilling its charge, the Human Resources Committee is responsible for the following activities 
and functions: 

 
• Reviews Human Resource policies for compliance with all employment laws and practices, 

makes recommendations to Senior Leadership as deemed desirable. 

• Periodically, reviews the Hospital’s employee classification plan and its compensation and 
benefits packages for market competitiveness of comparable positions and salaries, makes 
recommendations to Senior Leadership as deemed desirable. 

• Reviews the employee satisfaction/engagement survey that is conducted every 

other year and monitors the implementation of improvement actions based on the 
survey(s). 

• Monitors the monthly employment reports in light of industry standards and Hospital trends. 

 

Composition: 

The committee shall consist of two (2) members of the Board, one of whom shall serve as chair, 
the Legal Executive/General Counsel, Chief Executive Officer and the Human Resources Director. 
These five (5) committee members shall be the voting members of the committee. Staff to this 
committee include support personnel from appropriate MHSC departments such as the Chief 
Nursing Officer, Chief Clinical Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Finance and HR, who will not have 
voting privileges. 

12/179



Human Resources Committee Charter 2022 Page 2  

Meeting Schedule: 

The committee shall meet at least monthly quarterly, and as needed. 

 

Reports: 

The committee will regularly receive and review the following reports, and executive summaries 
will be reported to the Board: 

• Comprehensive personnel turnover reports and including physician turnover 

• Contract staff statistics by position 

• Vacancy rates by position 

• Unexpected sick leave rates and worker’s compensation claims 

• Employee engagement survey results when available 

• Injury and accident statistics 

• Workplace Violence statistics 

13/179



 
 

                     ORIENTATION MEMO 
 

 
 

Board Meeting Date:11/1/2023  
 
Topic for Old & New Business Items: 
Revised Compliance Committee charter to state that the committee will meet 

quarterly and as needed. Changed from monthly 
meetings.   

 
Policy or Other Document: 

 ☒ Revision 

 ☐ New 
 
Brief Senior Leadership Comments: 
Recommend approval of this change to Compliance Committee Charter 

 

 Board Committee Action: 

Compliance Committee approved the changes to the Charter.  
 
Policy or Other Document: 

     ☐ For Review Only 

 ☒ For Board Action 
 
Legal Counsel Review: 

 ☒ In House Comments:In House Counsel as the Compliance Officer 
proposed the change to the Compliance Committee.  

 ☐ Board  Comments:Click or tap here to enter text. 
 
Senior Leadership Recommendation: 
Recommend approval of change to Compliance Charter.  

14/179



DRAFT

Status Draft PolicyStat ID 14391529 

Approved N/A 

Review Due N/A 

Document 
Area 

Corporate 
Compliance 

Board Compliance Committee Charter 

STATEMENT OF PURPOSE: 
The purpose of the Board Compliance Committee is to assist the Board of Trustees (Board) in 
discharging its fiduciary and oversight duties to ensure the compliance activities of Memorial Hospital of 
Sweetwater County (Hospital) are vigorous, appropriate and continuous. 

TEXT 
I. Authority: 

A. The Board Compliance Committee has no expressed or implied power or authority. 

II. Responsibilities: 

A. In fulfilling its charge, the Board Compliance Committee is responsible for the 
following activities and functions: 

1. Oversee the Hospital's compliance program and monitor its performance. 

2. Make recommendations to the Board regarding compliance practices. 

3. Review compliance risk areas, based on the compliance audits, and the 
steps the Hospital has taken to assess, control, and report such 
compliance risk exposures. 

4. Ensure the Board is aware of significant compliance issues (EMTALA, 
OSHA, CMS, other regulatory/supervisory entities) and the measures taken 
by the Hospital to address non-compliance. 

III. Composition: 

A. The Board Compliance Committee shall consist of four (4) voting members and 
shall include the Chief Executive Officer, Compliance Officer, and two members of 
the Board of Trustees, one of whom shall serve as chair. The Compliance Auditor will 
be a non-voting member of the Committee and may serve as Secretary for meeting 

Board Compliance Committee Charter. Retrieved 09/2023. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/

14391529/. Copyright © 2023 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Page 1 of 2

15/179



DRAFT
Approval Signatures 

Step Description Approver Date 

minutes. 

B. Meeting Schedule: 

1. The Board Compliance Committee shall meet monthly orat least quarterly 
and as needed. 

IV. Reports: 

A. Annual Work Plan 

B. Internal and external investigations 

C. Audits and monitoring per annual work plan; any serious issues identified in audits 

D. Hot-line calls/email activity 

E. Monthly HIPAA monitoring 

F. Monthly exclusion/sanctions report 

G. All allegations of material fraud or senior management misconduct 

H. Significant regulatory changes and enforcement events 

I. Other reports as needed or requested 

Approved: FILL IN APPROVAL DATE 

Board Charter: The Compliance Committee 

Category: Board Committees & Committee Charters 

Title: Compliance Committee 

Original Adoption: 7/4/2018 

Revision: 7/25/2018; 1/29/2020; 4/1/2020; 7/1/2020, 09/17/2021 

Approved by MHSC Board of Trustees December 1, 2021 

Board Compliance Committee Charter. Retrieved 09/2023. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/

14391529/. Copyright © 2023 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Page 2 of 2

16/179



 
 

                     ORIENTATION MEMO 
 

 
 

Board Meeting Date:11/1/2023  
 
Topic for Old & New Business Items:  

Fulfilling the requirement to annually review committee charters,  the Governance Committee 
reviewed its charter and is recommending the following changes be approved by the Board:  

 Removal of “Plans and assists senior leadership with new Trustee orientation” 

 Removal of “Develops, maintains, and updates any written document…shall be 
approved by the Board” 

 Removal of “Annual board education plan” 

 Addition of “As part of the annual July meeting, assures the Hospital’s conflict of interest 
form is signed” 

 Capitalization corrections   

 
Policy or Other Document: 

 ☒ Revision 

 ☐ New 
 
Brief Senior Leadership Comments: 
Recommend approval of this change to the Governance Committee Charter 

 

 Board Committee Action: 

The Governance Committee approved the changes to the Charter.  
 
Policy or Other Document: 

     ☐ For Review Only 

 ☒ For Board Action 
 
Legal Counsel Review: 

 ☐ In House Comments: 

 ☐ Board  Comments: 
 
Senior Leadership Recommendation: 
Recommend approval of changes to the Governance Charter.  

17/179



1 
 

Board Charter: Governance Committee 

 

Category: Board Committees & Committee Charters 

Title: Governance Committee 

Original adoption: June 14, 2010 

Revision: 2011; 2017; 2020; 2022; 2023 

 

 

Purpose: 

 
The purpose of the Ccommittee is to assist the Board of Trustees (Board) in discharging its 

duties in respect to institutional governance and to Board composition and education. 

 

Responsibilities: 
 

The Governance Committee is responsible for the following activities and functions: 

• Prepares and submits to the Board for approval an agenda template to be used for regular 
monthly meetings of the Board. 

• As part of the annual July meeting, assists the Board in electing its officers—president, vice 
president, secretary, and treasurer—by soliciting potential candidates and presenting a ballot of 
nominees for Board vote. In addition to the nominees submitted for a Board vote, other 
nominations may be submitted from the floor by other Board members at the Board meeting. 

• In the event an office is vacated, accepts nominees for the open office. The ballot is presented 

and voted upon within sixty (60) days of the office being vacated. 

• Plans and assists senior leadership with new Trustee orientation. 

• Pursuant to the Board’s duty to carry out its fiduciary and strategic responsibilities, periodically 
reviews Board bylaws, committee charters, and relevant Board policies to ascertain if any need 
revisions, or if an addition would be beneficial. Submits any suggested additions or revisions to 
the Board for review and approval. 

• Oversees the process whereby Board bylaws, committee charters, and Board policies are 

systematically reviewed at least every three years. Working with administrative staff and other 

Board members as appropriate, monitors progress yearly and helps insure that needed reviews 

are completed and that changes, if any, are presented to the Board for review and approval. 

• Develops, maintains, and updates any written document (aside from bylaws, committee 
charters, and Board policies) which describe the role, duties and responsibilities of the Board as 
a whole, and its officers and members. Any document (and changes there to) shall be approved 
by the Board. 

• As part of the annual July meeting, assures the Hospital’s conflict of interest form is 
signed.Confirms compliance with Hospital’s conflict of interest policy. 

18/179



2 
 

• Conducts an annual evaluation of the Board’s performance. Shares during Executive session the 
results of the evaluation with all members of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer (CEO). 

• Periodically assesses the educational needs of the Board and encourages the Board members to 
avail themselves of the large variety of educational opportunities —such as, professional 
meetings, webinars, board workshops, etc. From time to time, suggests specific videos, 
webcasts, etc. for Board review and discussion at upcoming meetings of the Board. 

• May recommend new Trustee candidates to the County Commissioners, who are charged with 
appointing Board members. In making such recommendations, the Governance Ccommittee 
shall consider the skills and the attributes of the candidate, the needs of the Board, and 
representation of the residents of Sweetwater County. 

 

Composition 

 
The Ccommittee shall consist of the Board president, another Board member and the CEO. 

 

Meeting Schedule 
 

The Ccommittee shall meet monthly, or as needed. 

 

Reports 

 
The Ccommittee shall produce and/or receive and review the following reports and present a 

summary report to the Board: 

 

• Board self-assessment survey and follow up improvement plan. 

• Annual board education plan. 

• In-house Counsel’s and/or the CEO’s report(s) on current legal and regulatory issues 
affecting governance, plus an analysis of whether any changes to Board bylaws or 
policies are necessary. 
 

 

 

19/179



 
 

                     ORIENTATION MEMO 
 

 
 

Board Meeting Date:11/1/2023  
 
Topic for Old & New Business Items:  

Fulfilling the requirement to annually review committee charters, the Finance and Audit 
Committee reviewed its charter and is recommending the following changes be approved by 
the Board:  

 Removal of “Annual Standard & Poor’s credit rating review” as MHSC no longer holds a 
credit rating with the refinancing of the bonds in 2021. 
 

 
Policy or Other Document: 

 ☒ Revision 

 ☐ New 
 
Brief Senior Leadership Comments: 
Recommend approval of this change to the Finance & Audit Committee Charter. 

 

 Board Committee Action: 

The Finance & Audit Committee approved the changes to the Charter on 09/27/2023.  
 
Policy or Other Document: 

     ☐ For Review Only 

 ☒ For Board Action 
 
Legal Counsel Review: 

 ☐ In House Comments: 

 ☐ Board  Comments: 
 
Senior Leadership Recommendation: 
Recommend approval of changes to the Finance & Audit Committee Charter.  

20/179



Finance & Audit Page 1  

Board Charter for Finance & Audit Committee 
 

 
Category: Finance and Audit Committee 
Title: Finance and Audit Committee 
Original adoption: June 14, 2010 
Revision: 2023, 2020 

 
 

Purpose 
 

The purpose of the Finance and Audit Committee is to assist the Board of Trustees 
(Board) in its fiduciary and oversight duties as set forth below. 
 

Authority 
  The Committee has no expressed or implied power or authority. 

 

Responsibilities 
 
In fulfilling its charge, the Finance and Audit Committee is responsible for the 
following activities and functions: 

 Reviews, monthly, the financial status of the hospital and reports to the Board. 

 Reviews the fiscal year operating and capital budgets of the hospital prepared by Senior 
Leadership; makes recommendations to the Board regarding approval of said budgets. 

 Monitors the overall financial performance and risk of the hospital in light of approved 
budgets, long term trends, and industry standards. 

 Reviews on a regular basis hospital financial statements. 

 Reviews and recommends to the Board all Capital purchases in excess of the CEO’s 

approval limit. 
 Recommends to the Board policies designed to strengthen the financial health of the 

hospital and clinics. 

 Recommends to the Board key financial objectives to be established and monitored. 

 Reviews hospital investments; makes recommendations to Senior Leadership as 
deemed desirable. 

 Monitors the hospital’s debt obligations; reviews borrowing initiatives proposed by 
Senior Leadership; makes recommendations to the Board as deemed necessary. 

 Reviews the Board’s policy regarding financial assistance for the poor and uninsured, in 
compliance with State statute 18-8-106. 

 Provides oversight over external auditing matters by: 
o Reviews the Board’s external auditing policy; recommends changes if deemed 

necessary. 

Board of Trustees Orientation Resource Handbook 

21/179



Finance & Audit Page 2  

o Recommends to the Board external auditors after reviewing the composition of 
the audit team, proposed compensation, and other relevant matters. 

o May meet annually with the external auditors separate from Hospital 
management to review the annual audit and associated management letter. 

o Reviews audit findings and recommends to the Board any action plans that 
should be taken to strengthen internal controls and to otherwise improve the 
hospital’s accounting and management practices. 

o Makes other related recommendations to the Board associated with the auditing 
function. 

Composition 

The Finance and Audit Committee consists of two (2) members of the Board, including the 
Board Treasurer, who functions as Chair, Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and 
Controller serve as voting members of the committee. The Chief Nursing Officer, Chief 
Clinical Officer, Director of Patient Financial Services, Director of Information Technology, 
Director of Materials Management serve as non-voting members.  Two (2) physicians, as 
appointed by the Board President, serve as non-voting members of the committee, and may 
attend as available. 

Meeting Schedule 
Monthly; additional meetings may be called by the Committee Chair in consultation with the 
Chief Executive Officer, or as needed. 

Reports: 

The Committee will receive and review the following reports, and provide the Board with an 
executive summary: 

• For Board approval: 
 Investment reports, as necessary 
 Bad Debt report 
 Annual operating and capital budget 
 Annual financial audit report and management letter 

• For informational purpose: 
 Financial statements 
 Key financial ratios 
 Key operating benchmarks 
 Payer trend reports 
 Quarterly bond covenant compliance letter 
 Annual Standard & Poor’s credit rating review 
 Chargemaster review summary every three years 

Note: As used herein, the term “hospital” includes the “clinics” when such 
inclusion is appropriate. 

 

22/179



 

ORIENTATION MEMO 
 

 
 

Board Meeting Date: November 1, 2023  
 
Topic for Old & New Business Items: Board Policy - Approval Process for 

Expansion of or Addition to Hospital Services 
 
 
Policy or Other Document: 

 _NA___ Revision 
 ___X___ New 
 
 
Brief Senior Leadership Comments: NA 
 
 
Board Committee Action: Policy has been reviewed and approved by the 
Governance Committee. Note: the CEO was involved in the discussion of this 
policy and approves of the policy. 
 
Policy or Other Document: 

     __X____ For Review Only 
 _______ For Board Action 
 
Legal Counsel Review: 

 _NA______ In House Comments: 
 __NA_____ Board  Comments: 
 
Senior Leadership Recommendation: CEO is member of Governance Committee 
and is in accord with the recommendation. 

23/179



DRAFT

S Draft PS ID 13986238

A N/A

R D N/A

D
A

B 
T

BOT - Approval Process for Expansion of/or an Addition to
Hospital Services

Board of Trustees

STATEMENT OF PURPOSE:
B , ,     ,      H
           H . S
L   B  T      .

TEXT:
T B     :

• D            
       

• T    B P         
     

I. Guidelines:

II. A. T              
           
       S C   .

1. B           
      ,   CEO   

BOT - Approval Process for Expansion of/or an Addition to Hospital Services. Retrieved 10/2023. Official copy at
http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/13986238/. Copyright © 2023 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 1 of 2

24/179



DRAFTA S

Step Description Approver Date

H

  ,       B P 
.

B. I      B  T      
             
 .

C. T B    B C        
                B
   .

D. P         , S L 
      B P.

1. T     B P     
,    , , ,  ,  
  ,  .

2. T P      B  T. S L
   B          
B P        .

Board of Trustees Approval:

BOT - Approval Process for Expansion of/or an Addition to Hospital Services. Retrieved 10/2023. Official copy at
http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/13986238/. Copyright © 2023 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 2 of 2

25/179



COPY

Status Active PolicyStat ID 6526366 

Approved 06/2019 

Review Due 06/2021 

Document 
Area 

Medical Staff 

Reg. 
Standards 

TJC 
MS.04.01.01 

Residents in Training Policy 

STATEMENT OF PURPOSE: 

To outline the process for credentialing and supervision of residents, sponsored by a member of the 
Medical Staff, who provide services to patients of Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County (MHSC). 
This policy defines the mechanism of how the residents are credentialed and the scope of practice or 
privileges that defines their role at MHSC. 

TEXT: 

Graduate Medical Education (GME) is the second phase of the formal education process that prepares 
doctors for medical practice. This phase of medical education is conducted primarily in clinical settings 
and requires direct participation by residents in the delivery of patient care services. MHSC wishes to 
support residents for short-term clinical rotations to enhance a resident's experience in practicing in a 
rural healthcare facility. 

A physician must always supervise residents performing patient care activities. All clinical services 
provided by resident physicians must be supervised appropriately to maintain high standards of care, 
safeguard patient safety, and ensure high quality education. Individual resident programs will provide 
written guidelines governing supervision of residents. 

PROCEDURE: 

1. MHSC and the sponsoring educational institution shall enter into a cooperative education 
agreement. The educational institution must be accredited by the ACGME or AOA. 

2. The residency program will provide a letter stating the following: 

• That the resident physician is enrolled and in good standing in their program. 

• That the resident is covered by the program's liability insurance while he or she is 
performing as a resident. 

• The resident will be functioning under the supervision of an attending physician with 
appropriate clinical privileges at Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County.All residents 

Residents in Training Policy. Retrieved 10/2023. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/6526366/.

Copyright © 2023 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Page 1 of 3

26/179



COPY

will be required to follow the MHSC credentialing process, and must submit a 
complete application to the Medical Staff Office. 

1. Credentials Committee, MEC, and the hospital Board of Trustees will review the resident's 
application. If approved, the residents will be allowed to complete a rotation in a specific 
specialty for a certain time period. 

2. The resident will wear a name badge for identification. 

3. The resident will be provided with an orientation and tour of the facility before beginning their 
rotation. 

4. No health care benefits, workers' compensation, or other benefits are provided by MHSC in the 
event of illness or injury. 

Supervision of Residents/Resident's Role 

1. A resident may write orders for the care of patients under the supervision of the attending 
physician. All records of resident cases must document the attending physician's involvement 
in the supervision of the patient's care, including co-signature of the history and physical, 
operative report, and discharge summary. All admissions will be designated in name and 
responsibility to include an attending physician. 

2. The attending/supervising physician is ultimately responsible for patient care although he or 
she may delegate responsibilities for care to the resident consistent with the resident's level of 
training and ability. 

3. The hospital staff may contact the attending physician regarding any orders that are 
questionable or need clarification prior to their being executed. 

4. Discharge summaries, histories and physicals, operative reports, etc., must be cosigned by the 
attending physician. 

5. The hospital attending physician is responsible for the quality of all the clinical care services 
provided to his/her patients. 

6. Residents may not be supervised by Advance Practice Clinicians (APC's) such as Nurse 
Practitioners or Physician Assistants. 

Supervising Physician's Responsibilities: 

1. Each residency program will designate a supervising physician who will serve as the contact 
with the residency program and who will oversee training of the residents. This supervising 
physician will act as the liaison between the graduate education committee and the organized 
medical staff and the governing body. 

2. Written descriptions of the roles, responsibilities, and patient care activities of the participants 
of graduate education programs are provided to the supervising physician. The supervising 
physician is responsible for sharing this information with the organized medical staff and 
hospital staff. The supervising physician will send email communication alerting the hospital 
and medical staff that a resident is rotating through their department. The email will include 
the resident's name, dates of rotation, roles, responsibilities, patient care activities, treatment, 
and services provided by each resident. The email will also include the supervisory needs of 
each resident and that they will be following the rules and policies of the hospital and the 
medical staff. 

Residents in Training Policy. Retrieved 10/2023. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/6526366/.

Copyright © 2023 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Page 2 of 3

27/179



COPY
Approval Signatures 

Step Description Approver Date 

Irene Richardson: CEO 07/2023 

Kerry Downs: Medical Staff 
Services Supervisor 

06/2019 

3. The supervising physician responsible for overseeing each resident communicates to the 
organized medical staff and its governing body about the patient care, treatment, and services 
provided by, and the related educational and supervisory needs of, each participant in the 
professional graduate education program. The supervising physician will send a brief report to 
the monthly General Medical Staff meeting. The Chief of Staff will communicate pertinent 
information from that report, to the Board of Trustees, as indicated. The supervising physician 
will inform the organized medical staff and its governing body about the patient care, 
treatment, and services provided by, and the related educational and supervisory needs of, 
each participant in the professional graduate education program. 

4. The supervising physician is responsible to communicate information to the GMEC of the 
residency program about the quality of care, treatment, and services and educational needs of 
the participants. The supervising physician is responsible to complete all required evaluation 
forms for each resident in each residency program. The supervising physician will also meet 
regularly with the GMEC and will submit all required documentation. 

5. The supervising physician may delegate resident training to an attending physician, when 
needed. 

6. Medical Staff Services will notify those areas in the hospital where a resident physician would 
be involved with patient care (for example, nursing units, lab, x-ray, etc.). 

REFERENCES: 

TJC Medical Staff Standards, MS.04.01.01 

Sponsoring Department: Medical Staff Services 

Date of Origin: September 2017 

Date of Last Review: May 2019 

Date of Last Revision: May 2019 

 

MEC: July 25, 2023; Approved by MHSC Board of Trustees 

Residents in Training Policy. Retrieved 10/2023. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/6526366/.

Copyright © 2023 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Page 3 of 3

28/179



 

Minutes 

Governance Meeting 

October 16, 2023 
 

Attendees: Marty Kelsey, Barbara Sowada, and Irene Richardson 

Call to Order: Irene Richardson called the Zoom meeting to order at 2:00 pm 

Agenda was created during the meeting  

Minutes had been previously approved 

OLD Business 

1.   Expansion and New Service Line Policy. Reviewed original draft and second draft of 

policy. Action: Agreed that with the deletion of the second bullet point, the second draft will 

be sent to the Board for the first reading and recommendation of do pass. Marty will 

provide Cindy with clean copy of revised second draft for November Board packet.  

 
NEW Business 

1. The Governance Institute’s (TGI) Board Self-Assessment Survey was reviewed and questions 

considered irrelevant to MHSC were removed. Cindy will send revised questionnaire to TGI, who 

will administer the questionnaire and report the results to the Board. Goal is to have the survey 

results presented at the December BOT meeting. (See Attached for Removed Questions.) 

2. Board education for November will be report on Planetree Conference and update on 

application for Planetree certification to be presented by Cindy Nelson and Karali Plonsky. 

3. Interpretation of MGMA data re percentile salary and percentile volume was moved to 

December’s education program.  

Next meeting will be Monday November 20th at 2:00 pm by Zoom. 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

Barbara J. Sowada, Ph.D. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

29/179



 

Attachment: Questions Deleted from Board Self-Assessment Survey 

 

#6. Establishes a risk profile for the organization and holds management accountable to 

performance consistent with that risk profile. 

#10. In consultation with the medical executive committee, participates in the development 

of criteria for medical staff appointments and clinical privileges, and conducts periodic 

audits of the credentialing process. 

16. Establishes a strategy for aligning the clinical and economic goals of the hospital(s) and 

physicians. 

22. Sets annual goals for board and committee performance that support the organization’s 

strategic direction/plan. 

24. Applies competency-based governance  principles to assess board members and 

facilitate board development and board leadership succession planning. 

26. Requires that the CEO’s compensation package be based, in part, on the CEO’s 

performance evaluation. 

 

 

30/179



Chairs Report 

Quality Committee Meeting, October 2023 

The Quality Committee discussed some additional intricacies of Medicare reimbursement and how they 

judge hospitals.  Included in the packet are two reports that are worth reading; the Hospital Acquired 

Condition Performance Report and the Value Based Purchasing Performance Report.   

Dr. Poyer updated the committee on the triple-demic that includes COVID, RSV and the flu.  They are 

seeing increased incidents of all three, but the cases of hospitalizations are still manageable.  There was 

also discussion about the availability of both the COVID vaccine and the Paxlovid.  It’s worth noting that 

both are available, but it sometimes takes a couple of calls to pharmacies to locate. 

The control charts are always worth spending a few minutes looking through.  It’s a good visual of how 

we are trending in several different areas.    

For additional information please refer to the Quality Packet & Minutes.   

Kandi Pendleton 

31/179



32/179



33/179



34/179



35/179



36/179



37/179



38/179



39/179



40/179



41/179



42/179



43/179



44/179



45/179



46/179



47/179



48/179



49/179



50/179



51/179



52/179



53/179



54/179



55/179



56/179



57/179



58/179



59/179



60/179



61/179



62/179



63/179



64/179



65/179



66/179



67/179



68/179



69/179



70/179



71/179



72/179



73/179



74/179



75/179



76/179



77/179



78/179



79/179



80/179



81/179



82/179



83/179



84/179



85/179



86/179



87/179



88/179



89/179



90/179



91/179



92/179



93/179



94/179



95/179



96/179



97/179



98/179



99/179



100/179



101/179



102/179



103/179



104/179



105/179



MEMORANDUM 
 

To:  Board of Trustees 
From:  Wm. Marty Kelsey 
Subject: Chair’s Report…October Building and Grounds Committee Meeting 
Date:  October 25, 2023 
 
Oncology Suite Renovation…Supply chain issues plague the project. No start date yet. 
 
Building Automation System…plan continues to be to hold off on the final balancing until the 
lab project is done. 
 
Bulk Oxygen Project…Project is now totally complete! 
 
Lightning Arrest System…Much of the work is completed; the plan is to have this project 
completed before Thanksgiving. 
 
Medical Imaging Core & X-Ray project…architectural work is being done. There could be supply 
chain issues on this project. 
 
Laboratory Expansion project…Staff is recommending the Groathouse Construction be selected 
as the CMAR on this project. This recommendation will go to the November Board meeting. 
Hospital should receive a “Maximum Guaranteed Price” shortly after the drawings are 75% 
completed. It was reported that there may be additional SLIB funds available for this project. 
 
Master Plan & Grants for the Foundation & MOB entrance…Staff continues its work. Various 
possible re-purposing ideas were briefly discussed. It was agreed that a Master Plan will be 
beneficial to the Hospital. 
 
U of U Area Renovation…discussion took place regarding the tie-in this project has to the 
Oncology project associated with plumbing. Staff may attempt to move ahead sooner than later 
on this project. 
 
Central Scheduling project…it is now complete! 
 
For further details…see the minutes of the meeting in the packet. 

106/179



 

MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
Building and Grounds Committee Meeting 

October 17, 2023 

 
 

The Building and Grounds Committee met in regular session via Zoom on October 17, 2023, 

at 2:30 PM with Mr. Marty Kelsey presiding. 

 

In Attendance:  Mr. Marty Kelsey, Trustee - Chair 

   Mr. Craig Rood – Trustee 

   Ms. Irene Richardson, CEO 

   Ms. Tami Love, CFO 

Mr. James Horan, Director of Facilities 

Mr. Gerry Johnston, Maintenance Supervisor/ Project Manager 

Ms. Dawn Atkinson, PlanOne Architects 

    

 

Mr. Kelsey called the meeting to order. 

 

Mr. Kelsey asked for a motion to approve the agenda. Ms. Richardson made a motion to approve 

the agenda. Mr. Rood seconded; motion passed.   

 

Mr. Kelsey asked for a motion to approve the minutes from the September 19, 2023 meeting. Mr. 

Rood made a motion to approve the minutes.  Ms. Richardson seconded; motion passed. Ms. Love 

abstained. 

 

Maintenance Metrics 

 

Mr. Johnston explained the increase as a former employee still had work orders assigned.  He was 

able to reassign those and should see the average days overdue start to come down. Mr. Kelsey 

asked if they were fully staffed, Mr. Johnston confirmed. 

 

 

Old Business – Project Review 

 

Oncology Suite renovation 

 

Ms. Love gave an update from an email from the architect.  Unfortunately, the critical path 

dampers/controllers remain at best 12 weeks out according to the vendor. We will continue to 

work with the GC on the matter so that the project can both start and be completed in a timely 

manner.  

  

Building Automation System 

 

Mr. Kelsey reiterated the plan is still to wait on final balancing until the Lab project is completed.  

Mr. Johnston agreed we will wait since we will be separating air handlers for the Lab project. He 

said Harris was here this week looking at the Fiscal Services area.  With the small window, it 

becomes the path of least resistance causing heightened airflow.  The fix will be to cut air returns 

in the hall to lessen flow. 

  

 

107/179



 

 

Minutes of the September 19, 2023, Building & Grounds Committee 

Page 2 

Bulk Oxygen  

 

Mr. Johnston reported the final walk-through was completed and can be removed from the agenda.  

The temporary tank was removed last week. 

 

Lightning Arrest System 

 

Mr. Johnston reported that all of the outbuildings and MOB are completed.  They are about halfway 

done with the main hospital building.  They are projecting to be done mid-November.  All parts 

and pieces are here so the work can be completed. 

 

Medical Imaging Core and X-ray 

 

Mr. Johnston reported that Siemens was working on the preliminary drawings for the ER Xray 

room first.  Ms. Atkinson said they are working on drawings with staff on several options. This 

project will depend on the timing of the new equipment being approved and ordered. 

 

SLIB Laboratory Expansion project 

 

Ms. Love said we received two CMAR proposals for the project.  We had four individuals do 

scoring on the proposals.  PlanOne put the scores together and based on those scores have 

recommended Groathouse Construction, Inc. for selection as the CMAR.  There was discussion 

on the timing of the CMAR selection.  The architects would like to have the decisions soon as they 

plan to include the CMAR in preconstruction services. It was decided to take the CMAR approval 

to the regular November board meeting.  Ms. Atkinson said they would work on getting all the 

documents in place so we can move quickly once approved. Mr. Kelsey asked if we would receive 

a GMP at around 75% drawings. Ms. Atkinson said once the CMAR is on board they can start 

working on pricing and then fine tune as the drawings are finalized.  Mr. Kelsey said he is 

concerned about the costs with all the projects going on around the State.  Ms. Atkinson said lead 

times are still an issue also.  Ms. Love said Mr. Eric Boley, president of WHA, presented at a 

meeting last week there may be some additional SLIB funds available for projects that have 

inflationary variances.  Mr. Rood made a motion to move the selection of Groathouse as CMAR 

to the full Board for approval.  Ms. Richardson seconded; motion passed.   

 

Master Plan/ Grant for Foundation & MOB entrance 

 

Ms. Richardson reported we continue to meet with staff regarding the options for the Foundation 

space.  OB has seen volumes increase and they could use more space.  We could also move some 

offices so OB could expand in a different direction.  We received the preliminary results from 

Sheila Barnwell of Pact Studio on the Master Plan that will help us make some decisions.  Current 

grants include $496,000 for the Foundation space and the MOB entrance was $2.1 million with 

our $1,050,000 match. Mr. Kelsey asked about the tabled OB projects from last year.  We would 

like to move forward with showers and bathrooms in OB.  Volumes are up and down so we need 

to be careful of what is actually needed.  Mr. Kelsey asked about the financial viability of OB 

services.  Ms. Richardson said we do breakeven despite the high Medicaid population.   

 

 

 

108/179



 

 

Minutes of the September 19, 2023, Building & Grounds Committee 

Page 3 

Ms. Richardson said we are in the preliminary stage of looking at a master plan for new services, 

wish lists, renovated space, repurposed space, maintenance projects, etc.  We are talking with the 

commissioners about setting up a separate fund for capital building projects that would roll over 

year to year to accumulate for larger projects.  Mr. Kelsey agreed a master plan effort is great idea. 

He said it needs to tie into the new Strategic Plan.  He recommends bringing the information to 

the Board for direction on how to move forward.  Ms. Richardson said it would fit into our strategic 

pillars under Finance, Community & Growth and Patient Experience.  She said she would bring it 

to the strategic plan meeting later this week.  Mr. Rood said he agreed a Master Plan is needed in 

light of all the changes in healthcare.  Ms. Richardson said she would bring the preliminary results 

from the Master Plan meeting to our next meeting. 

 

U of U renovation 

 

Mr. Johnston said we were waiting on the Oncology project as we were planning on them to 

coordinate the common plumbing work.  Vaughn’s would be doing both projects simultaneously.  

With the delay in the Oncology project, he is going to try and move this one forward, so it doesn’t 

have to wait 12 weeks. 

 

Central Scheduling 

 

Mr. Johnston reported that this project is complete and was passed off by the State.  We will 

remove this from the agenda. 

 

 

New Business 

 

No new business was presented. 

 

Other 

 

The next meeting is scheduled for Tuesday, November 21, 2023; 2:30P – 3:30P 

 

Mr. Kelsey adjourned the meeting at 3:13 pm. 
 

 

Submitted by Tami Love 

109/179



  

ORIENTATION MEMO 
 

 
 

Board Meeting Date: November 1, 2023 
 
Topic for Old & New Business Items:  Construction Manager At Risk (CMAR) 

approval 
 
 
Policy or Other Document: 

 ______ Revision 
 ___X___ New 
 
Brief Senior Leadership Comments:  The Building and Grounds Committee 
reviewed CMAR proposals and approved moving the award of CMAR to the full 
Board. 

 

 Board Committee Action:  The Building and Grounds Committee motioned to 
recommend Groathouse Construction, INC as CMAR for the Lab Expansion 
project. 
 
 
 
Policy or Other Document: 

     _______ For Review Only 
 ___X____ For Board Action 
 
Legal Counsel Review: 

 _______ In House Comments: N/A 
 _______ Board  Comments: N/A 
 
Senior Leadership Recommendation:  Irene Richardson, CEO and Tami Love, CFO 
recommend approval of Groathhouse Construction, INC as CMAR selection. 

110/179



111/179



112/179



113/179



114/179



115/179



116/179



117/179



118/179



119/179



120/179



121/179



122/179



123/179



124/179



125/179



126/179



127/179



128/179



129/179



130/179



131/179



132/179



133/179



134/179



RESPONSE TO REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS FOR 
CONSTRUCTION MANAGER AT RISK SERVICES 

SEPTEMBER 28, 2023

LABORATORY
RENOVATION 
& ADDITION

135/179



1050 N 3rd Street, Ste. A
Laramie WY 82072
307.745.4119 office

307.742.7124 fax

3630 Big Horn Ave.
Cody WY 82414

307.587.6610 office
307.587.6613 fax

www.groathouse.com

An Original Wyoming Construction Company ~ Since 1954

September 28, 2023

Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Attn: Ms. Irene Richardson, CEO 
1200 College Drive
Rock Springs, Wyoming 82901

Dear Selection Committee Members:

Enclosed please find Groathouse Construction, Inc.’s response to the Request for Proposals for Construction Manager 
at Risk Services for the Laboratory Renovation and Addition. We appreciate your consideration of Groathouse as a 
partner on this project. 

Our team sincerely enjoyed working with you on your AHU Upgrade and Interior Renovations project completed 
in 2022.  Since then,  we have completed multiple projects in hospitals in Park County and Hot Springs County, 
which are similar to this renovation and addition.  Our team also has extensive experience with completing CMAR 
projects in Sweetwater County, and have an in-depth knowledge of the subcontracting resources in the region.          
If selected, Groathouse Construction will work closely with your project team to create a plan that aligns with your   
schedule, phasing, and budget, ensuring your project’s success as envisioned.  

Thank you again for your consideration, we look forward to the opportunity to discuss our proposal further. 

Sincerely, 
GROATHOUSE CONSTRUCTION, INC.

Fred Bronnenberg, President|CEO
fbronnenberg@groathouse.com
(307) 351-7387 (mobile)

136/179



TABLE OF CONTENTS

COMPANY INFORMATION01 Page 1

02 PROJECT TEAM KNOWLEDGE Page 2

03 CHALLENGES AND CHANGE ORDERS Page 14

04 BONDING CAPACITY Page 16

05 SAFETY Page 17

06 COST INFORMATION Page 17

07 PRE-CONSTRUCTION SERVICES Page 18

08 SPECIAL CONSIDERATIONS Page 19

137/179



01.  COMPANY INFORMATION
a.  List the firm’s name and complete address. List both street and mailing address. Provide the address of the       

specific office which will have responsibility for performing the work.

Groathouse Construction, Inc. has two (2) permanent offices:
 
CODY      LARAMIE
3630 Big Horn Avenue   1050 N. 3rd Street, Suite A
Cody, WY  82414    Laramie, WY  82072

Pre-construction services on this project will be completed from our Cody office.   We will have a fully-functioning 
mobile office trailer on-site during construction from which our Superintendent will manage the project. Our 
Project Manager will work on-site, as well as from our Cody office.  

b.  Firm Background: Describe your firm’s history. Include information identifying the firm’s annual volume of 
business, financial/bonding capacities, and speak to the firm’s stability in the marketplace. Information 
identifying the firm’s strengths along with special capabilities that may be appropriate to this project will assist 
in the evaluation. Provide your firm’s number of employees. 

Groathouse Construction, Inc. was established in 1954 in Laramie, Wyoming with a vision of building projects 
and relationships.  Incorporated in 1980, we have since grown into one of the largest grass-roots construction 
companies in Wyoming.  Our company is third-generation, 100% Wyoming and employee-owned. We employ 
fifty Wyoming residents, many of whom are long-standing key employees and corporate shareholders, making 
them passionate about what we do and giving us stability in completing projects. We hold true to our core values 
of completing our projects with honesty, integrity and family values to provide top-quality builds for our clients. 

Our firm has completed over six-hundred and fifty 
million dollars in projects using the Construction 
Management at Risk (CMAR) delivery method. 
Our first project as CMAR was completed in 2000, 
and we have since completed over one-hundred 
projects using this method. Our strength lies in 
the knowledge and experience of our team; we 
understand this delivery method and have the
personnel, tools and processes in place to exceed your expectations. Most importantly, we know 
what it means to be your advocate - the best part of this delivery method is that you gain an entire team whose 
main goal is to acheive your vision for the project.  Long before the CMAR delivery method was widely used in 
Wyoming, our  President, Fred Bronnenberg, was lobbying to use it on public projects.  He saw the value in the 
method and knew it could change the way Wyoming was building projects for the better.  
  
For the past 69+ years, we have focused on building Wyoming. Our resume is full of education, government, and 
healthcare projects in almost every county, city and town as a testament to our capabilities. We have completed 

iconic projects such as the Old Faithful Snow 
Lodge, as well as large projects at the Wyoming 
State Penitentiary, Wyoming State Hospital, and 
University of Wyoming.  More specifically,  our 
team has experience in Sweetwater County, 
including the following completed projects; 
Green River Police Department, Green River 
High School Aquatic Center,  Sweetwater County 
Child Development Center, and six projects for 
Sweetwater County School District #2.  We have 
also successfully completed projects in Rock 

MHSC Laboratory Renovation & Addition
COMPANY INFORMATION

Page 1 of 19 Groathouse Construction, Inc.
Proposal for CMAR Services

Number of Employees:      50
Average Annual Work Completed:     $45M
Bonding Capacity (Single):     $60M
Bonding Capacity (Aggregate):    $100M
Projects Completed as CMAR:     $650M+

YOUNG AT HEART SENIOR CENTER, Rock Springs, Wyoming

138/179



02.  PROJECT TEAM KNOWLEDGE
a.   Indicate your proposed project manager and superintendent (please submit resumes for both).  Demonstrate that 
     they have successfully completed projects of this size and type.  Please provide a short biography for both the 
      project manager and project superintendent and their construction experience within your firm.

Proposed Project Manager: Wayne Kitchen        *Resumes included on following pages 5-8
Proposed Superintendent: Sean Gilcrist           with biographies included.

b.   Proposers should provide evidence of their success in maintaining project schedules for projects.

Groathouse Construction uses a critical-path method schedule which includes detailed activities for each scope 
of work. We maintain and update this schedule weekly. This proactive approach to scheduling our construction 
activities allows us to identify and correct potential problems before they impact the project. 

In the past five years Groathouse has completed 31 projects totaling over $180-million.  All of these projects 
achieved substantial completion on or before the contractual substantial completion date.  Groathouse prides 
itself on managing the project schedule in accordance with the Owner’s needs and we do what is necessary to 
ensure timely completion. 

Springs, including your AHU Upgrade and Interior Renovations, Sweetwater County Justice Center Renovations, 
Fire Station #2 and Training Facility, and the Young at Heart Senior Center.

Groathouse Construction has built and nurtured relationships with local subcontractors and suppliers which 
provides a competitive edge in procuring local participation. These relationships provide up to date information 
during estimating and also provide strength during the course of construction.  The biggest advantage to you as 
an Owner is increased competition of competent, vetted subcontractors. 

With the combined experience of our lead team members on this project, we will be able to navigate 
challenges, provide insight on productive solutions to any issues that arise and ensure that the 
project maintains the highest quality from start to finish.     

c.   In the last five (5) years, have you (for each “yes” response provide an explanation):
 i.    had a settled or pending claim against your payment or performance bond?   No.
 ii.   had a contract terminated on a project?   No.
 iii.  been assessed liquidated damages for late delivery of a project?   No.
 iv.  taken legal action or dispute resolution proceedings (claim) against an Owner or project?   No.
 v.   failed to deliver a project from pre-construction or construction?   No.

MHSC Laboratory Renovation & Addition
COMPANY INFO / TEAM KNOWLEDGE

Page 2 of 19 Groathouse Construction, Inc.
Proposal for CMAR Services

SWEETWATER COUNTY CHILD DEVELOPMENT CENTER
Green River, Wyoming

139/179



c.  Proposers should provide their current and projected workload, specifically projects under construction and 
      projects under contract. Provide an approximate total dollar value for projects under contract.

GROATHOUSE HAS THE FOLLOWING PROJECTS UNDER CONSTRUCTION:

Project:        (CMAR)  Northwest College Student Center, Powell, WY
Owner:    State of Wyoming, State Construction Dept. | Dave Webb, State Project Manager 
     (307) 777.5950 
Architect:   Hord Coplan Macht, Inc. | Gwen Gilley, Project Architect | (303) 607.0977 
Contract Amount:  $20,436,501  Anticipated Completion:     September 2024   
Percent Complete:  27% at August 2023 Work by GC:     21% of project cost by our work force.

Project:        (CMAR)  Tippet Rise Art Center, Fishtail, MT
Owner:    Tippet Rise, LLC | Pete Hinmon | (970) 701.0054 | pete.hinmon@tippetrise.org 
Architect:   Gunnstock Timber Frames, Inc. | Laura Viklund, RA | (617) 458.9524
     laura@gunnstocktf.com  
Contract Amount:  $15,982,968  Anticipated Completion:     April 2024
Percent Complete:  30% at August 2023 Work by GC:     30% of project cost by our work force.

Project:        (CMAR)  Cody Regional Health – Central Sterile Renovations, Cody, WY
Owner:    Cody Regional Health | Douglas McMillan, CEO | (307) 578.2489
Architect:   Johnson Johnson Crabtree Architects, PC | Michael Speck, AIA | (615) 577.7876
     mspeck@jjca.com 
Contract Amount:  $4,240,985  Anticipated Completion:     February 2024 
Percent Complete:  46% at August 2023 Work by GC:     44% of project cost by our work force.

Project:        (CMAR)  YRA T-Hangar Development, Cody, WY
Owner:    Yellowstone Regional Airport | Aaron Buck, Airport Director
     (307) 587.5096 Ext. 5 
Architect:   Morrison-Maierle | Scott Bell, Vice President | (406) 922.6812 
Contract Amount:  $4,424,115  Anticipated Completion:     June 2024
Percent Complete:  16% at August 2023 Work by GC:     31% of project cost by our work force.

Project:         (CMAR)  Central Kitchen Renovation, Green River, WY
Owner:    Sweetwater County School District #2 | Doug Hamel, Maint. Supervisor
     (307) 872.5597 | hameld@swcsd2.org 
Architect:   Plan One/Architects | William Wheatley | (307) 352.2954
     wwheatley@planone.com
Contract Amount:  $3,702,395  Anticipated Completion:     September 2024 
Percent Complete:  23% at August 2023 Work by GC:     37% of project cost by our work force.

Project:        (DDB)  New Ten Sleep K-12 School, Ten Sleep, WY
Owner:    Washakie County School District No. 2 | Annie Griffin | (307) 366.2223 Ext. 500 
Architect:   Arete Design Group | Soren Phibbs | (307) 672.8270
Contract Amount:  $29,593,774  Anticipated Completion:     May 2025
Percent Complete:  13% at August 2023 Work by GC:     20% of project cost by our work force.

Project:        (CMAR)  Cheyenne Business Center – North/West Sitework, Cheyenne, WY
Owner:    1510 Pershing, LLC | Bob Moberly | (307) 259.2899 | bmoberly@wercs.com 
Architect:   The Design Studio, Inc. | Amber Conwell | (307) 775.9970 | amber@tdsi.us
Contract Amount:  $1,845,817  Anticipated Completion:     September 2023
Percent Complete:  67% at August 2023 Work by GC:     26% of project cost by our work force.

Project:        (DDB)  Hot Springs Cty Hospital Dist. Isolation Rm Exhaust Upgrade, Thermopolis, WY
Owner:    Hot Springs County Hospital District | John Dobbins, Director of Facilities
     (307) 864.3121
Architect::   Plan One/Architects | Ron Yount, Project Manager | (307) 587.8646
Contract Amount:  $187,987  Anticipated Completion:     December 2023
Percent Complete:  5% at August 2023 Work by GC:     52% of project cost by our work force.

MHSC Laboratory Renovation & Addition
PROJECT TEAM KNOWLEDGE

Page 3 of 19 Groathouse Construction, Inc.
Proposal for CMAR Services140/179



Project:         (CMAR)  Cheyenne Business Center – Arcade, Cheyenne, WY
Owner:    1510 Pershing, LLC | Bob Moberly | (307) 259.2899 | bmoberly@wercs.com
Architect:   The Design Studio, Inc. | Amber Conwell | (307) 775.9970 | amber@tdsi.us
Contract Amount:  $2,165,065  Anticipated Completion:     February 2024 
Percent Complete:  16% at August 2023 Work by GC:     39% of project cost by our work force.

Project:         (CMAR)  Park County Courthouse HVAC Upgrades, Cody, WY
Owner:    Park County | Brian Edwards, County Engineer | (307) 527.8523
     brian.edwards@parkcounty-wy.gov   
Architect:   Engineering Design Associates | Jak Hollinger, Mech. Engineer | (307) 266.5033
Contract Amount:  $4,980,602  Anticipated Completion:      July 2024
Percent Complete:  0% at August 2023 Work by GC:     41% of project cost by our work force.

Project:         (CMAR)  Cheyenne Business Center – Derby Entertainment Center, Cheyenne, WY
Owner:    1510 Pershing, LLC | Bob Moberly | (307) 259.2899 | bmoberly@wercs.com 
Architect:   The Design Studio, Inc. | Amber Conwell | (307) 775.9970 | amber@tdsi.us 
Contract Amount:  $5,951,571  Anticipated Completion:      November 2024
Percent Complete:  0% at August 2023 Work by GC:     44% of project cost by our work force.

Project:         (CMAR)  Rawlins Derby Club, Rawlins, WY
Owner:    1510 Pershing, LLC | Bob Moberly | (307) 259.2899 | bmoberly@wercs.com 
Architect:   The Design Studio, Inc. | Amber Conwell | (307) 775.9970 | amber@tdsi.us 
Contract Amount:  $845,464  Anticipated Completion:      December 2023
Percent Complete:  0% at August 2023 Work by GC:     45% of project cost by our work force.

GROATHOUSE HAS THE FOLLOWING PROJECTS UNDER CONTRACT, NOT YET IN CONSTRUCTION:

Project:         (CMAR)  Meeteetse Community Center, Meeteetse, WY
Owner:    Meeteetse Recreation District | Brodie Bennett-Serres | (307) 899.2698
     meeteetserecdistrict@gmail.com   
Architect:   QC10 Architects | Thane Magelky, AIA | (307) 461.1031
     thane@qc10architects.com 
Owner’s Budget for GMP: $1,500,000  Anticipated Construction:      October 2023-March 2024 

APPROXIMATE TOTAL DOLLAR VALUE FOR PROJECTS UNDER CONTRACT:    $95,857,244 
 ($23,096,208 COMPLETED  |  $72,761,036 REMAINING)

d.  List of five (5) similar projects completed in 2015 - 2023 with Owner and Architect contact information for 
       reference.

Groathouse Construction has completed several projects in the past with similar scopes of work.                                                
Please see the attached project sheets, pages 9-13, for information on projects completed since 2015. 

MHSC Laboratory Renovation & Addition
PROJECT TEAM KNOWLEDGE

Page 4 of 19 Groathouse Construction, Inc.
Proposal for CMAR Services

GREEN RIVER HIGH SCHOOL AQUATIC CENTER
Green River, Wyoming

141/179



CONTACT
             3630 Big Horn Avenue
            Cody, WY  82414

          fbronnenberg@groathouse.com

 (307) 587-6610

 (307) 351-7387

YEARS IN 
CONSTRUCTION
   37 Years in Industry

   31 Years with Firm

NOTABLE 
CERTIFICATIONS
 Certified Construction Manager  
 2004 
 LEED GA September 2009
 Certified Healthcare Construction  
    Professional ASHE 2017 

FRED
BRONNENBERG
PRINCIPAL-IN-CHARGE  |  PRE-CONSTRUCTION MANAGER

Highly motivated business owner with extensive experience in estimating,        
pre-construction and construction services.

HIGHLIGHTS
As Principal-in-Charge and Pre-construction Manager, Fred will: 
  Act as your advocate.
  Work side-by-side with our in-house estimators to provide detailed   
 cost estimates at all phases of pre-construction.  
  Provide an accurate schedule for pre-construction and construction.   
  Use our database of qualified subcontractors to manage the bidding 
 process. 
  Work with the Project Manager and on-site Superintendent as   
 necessary when construction begins.
  Oversee the entire project from initial concept to final completion.   

Fred has been intimately involved in every project we have completed as 
a CMAR in Wyoming. His experience with this delivery method, as well as 
the relationships he has nurtured around the State, will greatly benefit this 
project.   

EDUCATION
1986  A.S.    Accounting  Northwest College 
1995  B.S.    Civil Engineering* University of Wyoming
                       * Construction and Structural Emphasis

SIMILAR PROJECT EXPERIENCE
Wyoming State Hospital                $81M
Gottsche Therapy and Rehab Renovation               $5.3M
Cody Regional Health-Central Sterile Renovations (in construction)   $4.2M
Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County AHU Upgrades  $7.1M
Young at Heart Senior Center                $7.6M
Fire Station #2 & Training Facility      $6.1M
SWCSD#2 Major Maintenance Projects    $5M
Sweetwater County Justice Center Expansion    $17M
CINER Changehouse & Meeting Facility    $8M

REFERENCES
Doug Hamel, Maint. Supervisor   SWCSD#2             (307) 872-5599
JD Simmons, Owner’s Rep.      WY State Hospital       (801) 726-5135

MHSC Laboratory Renovation & Addition
PROJECT TEAM KNOWLEDGE

Page 5 of 19 Groathouse Construction, Inc.
Proposal for CMAR Services142/179



CONTACT
           3630 Big Horn Avenue
            Cody, WY  82414

          tom@groathouse.com

 (307) 587-6610

 (307) 272-8291

YEARS IN 
CONSTRUCTION
   41 Years in Industry

   10 Years with Firm

NOTABLE 
CERTIFICATIONS
 OSHA 10 Hour Training
  Licensed Contractor

TOM
TREMELLING
PROJECT ESTIMATOR

Senior level Project Estimator with broad knowledge of the construction 
industry.  

HIGHLIGHTS
As Project Estimator, Tom will: 
  Act as your advocate.
  Advise on constructability and document quality control.
  Estimate the project at every milestone, noting differences and cost   
 savings options for the team.  
  Be involved in the pre-construction planning of the project with bid   
 scope interpretation to bidders.
  Review approved bidders and distribute information to achieve an   
 apples-to-apples comparison of bids.
  Work alongside Fred Bronnenberg, Owner, and Design Team to   
 establish a realistic schedule and accurate costs on the project.
  Prepare GMP Proposal Pricing for review.

Before coming to work for Groathouse Construction, Tom sat at almost 
every seat on a project team at one time or another in his 40 year career in 
the construction industry. He started hands on as a carpenter, foreman and 
superintendent. He also has experience working for an architect as a quality 
control reviewer of project documents for construction feasibility, and a 
specification writer. 

EDUCATION
1982      High School Diploma            Glenrock High School
1985-1986     Denver Institute of Technology 

SIMILAR PROJECT EXPERIENCE
YRA Terminal Expansion                $5.8M
Cody Regional Health Negative Pressure Room Upgrades             $1.4M 
Gottsche Therapy and Rehab Renovation               $5.3M
Cody Regional Health-Central Sterile Renovations (in construction)   $4.2M
Shoshoni K-12 School                  $39.6M
Gillette College Education & Activities (Pronghorn) Center            $18.9M 

REFERENCES
Clark Melinkovich, Owner’s Rep.   Campbell County           (307) 685-8061
Grady Davis, Architect                    Amundsen Associates    (307) 234-9999

MHSC Laboratory Renovation & Addition
PROJECT TEAM KNOWLEDGE

Page 6 of 19 Groathouse Construction, Inc.
Proposal for CMAR Services143/179



CONTACT
             3630 Big Horn Avenue
            Cody, WY  82414

          wkitchen@groathouse.com

 (307) 587-6610

 (307) 251-1182

YEARS IN 
CONSTRUCTION
   28 Years in Industry

   15 Years with Firm

NOTABLE 
CERTIFICATIONS
 OSHA 10 Hour Training
 Licensed Wyoming Contractor

WAYNE
KITCHEN
PROJECT MANAGER

Driven senior-level Project Manager with 20+ years experience and a 
background in complex renovation and additions.

HIGHLIGHTS
As Project Manager, Wayne will: 
  Act as your advocate.
  Be responsible for policy and procedure implementation to acheive   
 desired safety, quality, and productivity. 
  Manage relations with Owner and Design Team via daily reports,  
 weekly meetings, schedule and budget updates, RFI’s, and submittals.
  Work with Project Superintendent and field engineers in placement   
 of manpower and equipment on project to ensure critical path 
 activities are properly staffed to meet schedule completion milestones.
   Maintain the schedule and coordinate work with Subcontractors.   
  Provide clear and focused leadership to the project team. 

As a Wyoming native, Wayne is familiar with the culture and unique attributes 
to construction in our State.  His career began in the residential sector in 1995. 
He has experience in home building, foundations and slabs, and carpentry 
work. When he came to Groathouse Construction in 2008 he started as a 
Field Engineer, where he gained ample experience with submittals, RFI’s, 
and change orders. He has developed into one of our lead Project Managers, 
managing some of our largest projects. 

EDUCATION
2006       B.S. Animal and Veterinary Sciences*    University of Wyoming
                * with a minor in Business Management

SIMILAR PROJECT EXPERIENCE
Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County AHU Upgrades  $7.1M
CINER Changehouse & Meeting Facility    $8M
Sweetwater County Justice Center Expansion    $17M
Maven Headquarters       $6.2M 
CAPS/Roosevelt Alternative School     $38.4M
Casper College Music Building (as Assistant Superintendent)  $12.7M
Dean Morgan Junior High School Renovations (Field Engineer)  $15.6M
CY Middle School (Field Engineer)     $29.3M

REFERENCES
Chuck Radosevich, Engineer      Sweetwater Cty (Retired)   (307) 870-2306
Keith Brown, Owner Rep.    State of WY            (307) 262-4613 
Gerry Johnston, Maint. Super.    MHSC              (307) 390-9319

MHSC Laboratory Renovation & Addition
PROJECT TEAM KNOWLEDGE

Page 7 of 19 Groathouse Construction, Inc.
Proposal for CMAR Services144/179



SEAN
GILCRIST
PROJECT SUPERINTENDENT

Highly adaptable and dedicated Project Superintendent with twenty years 
experience in construction. 

HIGHLIGHTS
As Project Superintendent, Sean will: 
  Act as your advocate.
  Be on site daily to oversee all subcontractor work.
  Update and record project documentation on Procore (Project 
 Management Software)
  Assist in quality control and safety management.
  Set up and organize the project site.
  Oversee Groathouse employee work on-site. 

Sean’s career in the construction industry began in 2003 in the residential 
sector where he spent nine years building houses and roofing.  He also 
has experience in heavy equipment operating for road construction and in 
concrete.  Sean came to Groathouse Construction, Inc. in 2014, working his 
way through the ranks into his current role as Project Superintendent. Sean is 
hands-on, driven and detail oriented. He is currently managing a large-scale 
renovation at Cody Regional Health (CRH). 

EDUCATION
1999-2003 Cody High School

SIMILAR PROJECT EXPERIENCE
CRH Central Sterile Renovations (still in construction)    $4.2M
Comfort Inn (Cody) Canopy Repair     $363K
American West Realty Renovation     $372K
MHSC AHU Upgrades & Interior Renovations (Carpenter/Foreman) $7.1M
CRH Negative Pressure Room Upgrades (Carpenter/Foreman)           $1.4M 
Groathouse New Cody Office

Project involvement before moving into management position:
Powell Middle School - Phase 2     
Buffalo Bill Center of the West - Multiple Projects
Park County Animal Shelter  
Sweetwater County Justice Center Expansion   
Wyoming State Hospital      

REFERENCES
Laurene Torczon, Surgical Services Director           CRH     (307) 254-0756
Jim Werner, Plant Operations Master Electrician      CRH     (307) 899-2017

CONTACT
             3630 Big Horn Avenue
            Cody, WY  82414

          sgilcrist@groathouse.com

 (307) 587-6610

 (307) 296-6670

YEARS IN 
CONSTRUCTION
     20 Years in Industry

        9 Years with Firm

MHSC Laboratory Renovation & Addition
PROJECT TEAM KNOWLEDGE

Page 8 of 19 Groathouse Construction, Inc.
Proposal for CMAR Services145/179



MHSC Laboratory Renovation & Addition
PROJECT TEAM KNOWLEDGE

Page 9 of 19 Groathouse Construction, Inc.
Proposal for CMAR Services

MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY AHU UPGRADES
Location: Rock Springs, Wyoming
Owner: Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County | James Horan, Facilities Director | (307) 352-8411
Engineer: ST&B Engineering, Inc.   |   Jacob Blevins, Principal   |   (970) 688-4057

Delivery Method:  Construction Manager at Risk  Original Contract Amount: $3,635,770
Completed:   February 2022    Final Contract Amount: $7,169,748

Description:   Groathouse was selected by the Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County to complete their Air Handling 
Unit Upgrade to the current hospital.  Funding source requirements and restrictions created some interesting hurdles 
to the project.  This project was multi-phased with three different funding sources that included Federal CARES Act 
funding.  Groathouse Construction created a Schedule of Values for the monthly billings to account for the separate 
funding sources.  

The existing hospital facility needed replacement of a portion of the Mechanical System.  The existing system was 
several decades old and was housed in the basement.  The only way to install new units was to construct a Penthouse 
on the roof.  The Penthouse Construction required removing a section of the roof in the dead of winter.  Surgical rooms, 
sanitation rooms, and administration offices were all directly beneath the roof opening and great care had to be taken to 
eliminate any disruption to services in these areas.  

Renovation of approximately 14,000 sf within the heart of the facility for Medical Imaging was added to the project 
scope via a change order.  This work required cutting a construction entrance through an exterior wall with a temporary 
stair tower to avoid disruption to the hospital operations.  The adjacency to the surgical suite created a heightened 
monitoring of infection control measures.  Daily coordination and constant communication with hospital maintenance 
staff, physicians, and administration was required and achieved for a highly successful project of which Groathouse 
Construction is very proud to have been a part in completing.     

           Similarities to Laboratory   
           Renovation & Addition:
                 1.  Same Facility  
                 2.  Same Project Manager  
                 3.  Proposed Superintendent;
                      previously carpenter/
                      foreman involved in 
                      infection control.
                  

146/179



MHSC Laboratory Renovation & Addition
PROJECT TEAM KNOWLEDGE

Page 10 of 19 Groathouse Construction, Inc.
Proposal for CMAR Services

CODY REGIONAL HEALTH - CENTRAL STERILE RENOVATIONS

Location:  Cody, Wyoming
Owner:  Cody Regional Health   |   Doug McMillan, CEO   |   (307) 578-2489
Architect:  Johnson Johnson Crabtree Architects P.C.   |   Michael Speck, AIA   |   (615) 577-7876
 

Delivery Method:  Construction Manager at Risk  Original Contract Amount: $4,195,105
Anticipated Completion:  First phase:  July 2023  Current Contract Amount: $4,240,985
    Project (full):  February 2024

Description:   This project consists of renovations to the existing Central Sterile Unit in the basement of the hospital, 
originally built in 1972, and expanding it into adjacent areas for increased capacity.  Work in an active hospital requires 
strict Infection Control Risk Assessment (ICRA) measures to be in place to maintain the sterile areas’ integrity.  To avoid 
disrupting hospital functions, the work was divided into phases.  

In the first phase, completed in July 2023, the third-floor was renovated to relocate the Environmental Services (EVS) 
department from their existing space on the ground level.  This required new overhead mechanical, electrical, and 
plumbing (MEP) work to be done in the active OB Clinic on the floor below. 

Additional MEP routing to a mobile sterile unit outside of the building was also required to ensure uninterrupted 
hospital functions.  Before renovations in the Central Sterile Unit are completed, we’ll undertake Surgical department 
improvements. This phase will involve corridor relocation, office and storage space construction, and Post-Anesthesia 
Care Unit (PACU) and Sterile Core renovations. 

Similarities to Laboratory 
Renovation & Addition:
     1.   Working in an  active Clean work Facility.
     2.   Working in different phase and multiple areas to 
 minimize impact to active facility.
     3. Setting up and maintaining extensive ICRA 
 systems to separate construction zone and active 
 Sterile areas.
     4.    Same proposed Superintendent. 

147/179



WYOMING STATE HOSPITAL
Location: Evanston, Wyoming
Owner: State of Wyoming, State Construction Department, Construction Management Division
        Lance Johnson | (307) 679-1288
Architect: Hellmuth, Obata & Kassabuam, Inc.   |   Michael Thoma, Project Architect   |   (314) 696-3331

Delivery Method:  Design-Bid-Build (Hard-Bid)  Original Contract Amount: $74,889,381
Substantial Completion: October 2021    Final Contract Amount: $81,048,588

Description:   The State of Wyoming developed a solution to address an aging, disconnected, and inefficient campus 
in Evanston, Wyoming.  Groathouse was the low bidder on the project, but post-bid value engineering still had to be 
done to get the project in-budget.   Our team members, Fred Bronnenberg and Tom Tremelling, worked with the State 
of Wyoming, Architectural/Engineering team, and MOCA (Owner Rep) to get the project cost within the allotted funds.    
Groathouse worked with the design team and Owner for six weeks post bid in order to develop and achieve the savings.  
Items included were changing BIM Requirements, types and grades of insulation, and some mechanical re-design.  

The project was broken into three phases to accommodate the needs of the occupied facility.  Phase 1 was site work and 
parking lot areas,  Phase 2 was the new addition to the existing campus and included all level security measures similar 
to a detention center.  Rooms were designed to be individually occupied, and individually controlled by a security 
system.  Phase 3 was the administration remodel of the existing facility. 

Similarities to Laboratory Renvation & Addition:
      1.  Large-scale renovation and addition
      2.    Occupied facility during construction

    

MHSC Laboratory Renovation & Addition
PROJECT TEAM KNOWLEDGE

Page 11 of 19 Groathouse Construction, Inc.
Proposal for CMAR Services148/179



MHSC Laboratory Renovation & Addition
PROJECT TEAM KNOWLEDGE

Page 12 of 19 Groathouse Construction, Inc.
Proposal for CMAR Services

NEGATIVE PRESSURE ROOM UPGRADES   | OUTPATIENT MRI REPLACEMENT

Location:  Cody, Wyoming
Owner:  Cody Regional Health   |   Doug McMillan, CEO   |   (307) 578-2489
Architect:  Johnson Johnson Crabtree Architects P.C.   |   Michael Speck, AIA   |   (615) 577-7876
 

Delivery Method: Construction Manager at Risk  Original Contract Amount: $1,447,936
Completed:   November 2021   Final Contract Amount: $1,456,261

Description:   Our firm was selected as Construction Manager at Risk on this multi-location project for Cody Regional 
Health, which had two main goals. The first goal was to upgrade resident rooms into negative pressure suites; eight 
patient rooms located in the Cody Regional Health building, and two additional rooms in the Cathcart Building.  The 
scope of work included replacing acoustical ceilings with hard lid (drywall) ceilings, installing dedicated exhaust systems, 
sealing all walls at the ceiling between rooms, and replacing flooring and wall finishes.  The second goal was to upgrade 
the MRI Unit in the Cody Medical Arts Complex.  Our crews renovated the entire space including demolition, and new 
wall, ceiling, and floor finishes in preparation for a new MRI Unit to be installed by the hospital.  We also upgraded all 
lead sheilding on the walls in the MRI Unit. 

Repeat Client on the Following Projects:
     1.   CRH Central Sterile Renovations
     2.   CRH Cathcart Health Center - OB 
 Clinic Renovations
     3.   CRH Basin Clinic Renovations

Similarities to Laboratory Renovation 
& Addition:
     1.   Occupied facility.
     2.   Work phased in different 
 locations.
     3.   Proposed Superintendent;
 previously carpenter/foreman 
 involved in infection control.
       

149/179



GOTTSCHE REHAB AND WELLNESS CENTER UPGRADES - PHASE 1

Location: Thermopolis, Wyoming
Owner: William H. and Carrie Gottsche Foundation   |   Cheryl Shero, Executive Director   |   (307) 864-2146
Architect: Amundsen Associates, LLC   |   Grady Davis, Project Architect   |   (307) 234-9999

Delivery Method:  Design-Build    Original Contract Amount: $2,700,000
Substantial Completion: March 2020    Final Contract Amount: $5,320,791

Description:   When our team sat down with Executive Director, Cheryl Shero, she had big plans to renovate and update 
the Gottsche Thermopolis location.  On the top of her list was separating the utilities from the Hospital, a new entrance, 
and updating the look of the 1950’s building.  The electrical, mechanical, and sewer were all tied into the Hospital next 
door under one service.  Our team hired Amundsen Associates and A&E Engineering to assist us in developing a plan 
to make it all happen.  The initial estimate for her complete wish list was over eight million dollars.  Knowing this was 
more than she wanted to spend, we worked with her and her staff to decide what items were a necessity, rather than a 
desire, with the budget she was comfortable with - just over five million dollars.  Phased construction and detailed cost 
estimates allowed us to identify and complete 90% of the improvements she wanted done.

The Gottsche Rehab and Wellness Center Upgrades was an ongoing phased renovation from 2017-2020.  The first phase 
was a complete removal and re-design of the entry to the facility.  The main focus was to “dress up” and identify the 
main entrance and bring it up to code for the center.  A new parking lot, canopy, and landscaping were completed on 
the exterior of the building.  The larger, more critical portion of this phase aided in setting the stage for the remaining 
phases: new electrical and mechanical upgrades.  The center is in a 50+ year old building that was tied in structurally as 
well as shared utilities to the Hot Springs County Hospital.  This project’s main goal was to make the Gottsche Center a 
stand alone operating facility in terms of utilities and aesthetics.  The additional phases included upgrades to the finishes, 
renovation of the OT and PT areas, kitchen/cafeteria, administration, and upgrades in the building’s courtyard.  

Similarities to Laboratory Renovation and Addition:
        1.   Healthcare facility
        2.   Occupied during construction
        3.   Connected to an operating hospital

We can confidently say that we picked the best contractor in the State of Wyoming for our project. Gottsche Board of 
Trustees and myself would recommend Groathouse Construction to any organization in need of a renovation project 
for not only their work ethic and results, but because they understand what it takes to maintain a successful relation-
ship with their clients.  
                       -- Cheryl Shero, Gottsche Therapy Rehabilitation and Wellness

““

““

MHSC Laboratory Renovation & Addition
PROJECT TEAM KNOWLEDGE

Page 13 of 19 Groathouse Construction, Inc.
Proposal for CMAR Services150/179



a.   What do you see as the greatest challenges with this project?

The greatest challenge this project will face will be promoting interest from Subcontractors.  Competition in the 
subcontracting market at this time is very high given the amount of work underway and the lack of qualified 
manpower in the different trades.  The construction industry across the nation and Wyoming has a noticable 
shortage of qualified labor. 

Over the years, our team has nurtured relationships with 
Subcontractors across the industry in order to provide the largest 
pool of bidders possible. We are also more than willling to roll up our 
sleeves to get the job done.   Groathouse Construction can guide you 
through this challenge better than any of our competitors.

A very close second will be the challenge of material procurement. 
While this is improving in some disciplines, others, such as electrical 
components, remain very difficult to procure. 

Our team will spend a considerable amount of time up front in     
pre-construction, design and submittal phases to identify issues 
before they become problems. We will manage the process, not 
simply react to it.  We will specifically identify any long-lead items 
and work through necessary steps to promote early release and 
procurement.

 
Another challenge facing this project, perhaps the most important, 
is the fact that construction will take place in an occupied, active hospital.  The safety of your patients and staff 
will be the first and foremost concern in developing separation barriers and phases of the project. 
 

Our team has extensive experience working in occupied facilities, and more specifically has completed  several
projects in the last few years in active medical facilities across the State.  We will ensure the necessary steps are 
taken to maintain a safe environment for all.

b.  We anticipate construction to start January of 2024, with an 18 month period of construction. Does the 
       proposed schedule present any challenges? Is it realistic?

An 18-month duration for a project of this size and scope is realistic. The above challenges can affect this, 
however we will do everything possible to mitigate these challenges in our planning provided during the 
pre-construction phase.  This planning will not only include a detailed estimate, but also an accurate critical path 
schedule. 

c.    How do you minimize change orders during the construction process?

Groathouse Construction will begin working to minimize change orders during the pre-construction process.  
Our team will develop bid packages that supplement the contract documents to further define scope expectations 
for each individual subcontractor.  The bid packages also allow for a thorough review and comparison of bids 
received on an ‘apples to apples’ basis.  The scope for each Subcontract will come directly from the Bid Package 
description, which again, is based on the project’s specification sections and drawings.  Our involvement during 
the pre-construction phase will limit the need for change orders necessary during construction as it pertains to 
the original scope of work.   

Groathouse Construction’s Project Manager and Superintendent fully understand the scope related to each 
Subcontract.  In the event a request for change order is received during construction, our team will review the 

03.  CHALLENGES AND CHANGE ORDERS

MHSC Laboratory Renovation & Addition
CHALLENGES & CHANGE ORDERS

Page 14 of 19 Groathouse Construction, Inc.
Proposal for CMAR Services151/179



request against the contract documents and Bid Package description (Subcontract scope).  If a change request is 
warranted, Groathouse Construction will submit a Change Order Proposal for Design Team and Owner review. 

We will act as your advocate in all change orders, ensuring all pricing received from our Subcontractor is fair and 
accurate - if the change is not warranted, the request will be denied before it comes across your table.

d.   How do you strive to maintain a cooperative team attitude throughout the project?

First and foremost, our team will focus on clear communication in all directions from the very beginning.  We 
will facilitate pre-construction meetings between the Owner and Design Team from the start, as well as weekly 
“OAC” meetings during the construction phase to promote project-specific coordination and issue resolution on 
a routine basis. 

Communication with prospective Subcontractors is maintained from the start. We will begin soliciting interest 
on the project early in the pre-construction phase, and will maintain communication throughout the bidding 
process.   Moving into the construction phase, we have many processes in place to maintain cooperation between 
our team and our Subcontractors.  These processes include weekly coordination meetings, preparatory meetings, 
daily reports, maintenance of project record documents,  and quality control procedures. 

We will utilize Procore, an online construction project management software, during the construction phase to 
provide an overview of items outstanding, giving a detail of whose “court” the item is in and when it is due. This 
will allow all parties a quick glance at the status of submittals, proposal requests, and change orders at any given 
moment. 

Clear, concise communication is key to the success of this project. 

e.    How will you encourage the greatest possible extent of local subcontracting?

Groathouse Construction has been nurturing relationships with local subcontractors for many years. We will 
use these relationships to encourage the highest percentage of local workforce possible.  We have experience 
completing projects in Sweetwater County, and have developed a good working relationship with many 
Subcontractors and Suppliers in the area. These regional relationships will enhance competition and potentially 
pricing for your project.  Groathouse Construction is an advocate for local participation, as we find that local 
forces take pride in their work in their community. 

MHSC Laboratory Renovation & Addition
CHALLENGES & CHANGE ORDERS

Page 15 of 19 Groathouse Construction, Inc.
Proposal for CMAR Services152/179



04.  BONDING CAPACITY
a.  Provide proof of bonding capacity. The Proposer must be capable of providing a 100% performance 

bond and 100% payment bond for a project valued up to $5 million in construction costs, as documented 
by a letter or binder from the Surety. Provide contact name, phone, and email information for this project.

   

b.    Builders Risk Insurance must be carried by the CMAR for this project.   Acknowledged.

MHSC Laboratory Renovation & Addition
BONDING CAPACITY

Page 16 of 19 Groathouse Construction, Inc.
Proposal for CMAR Services153/179



a.   Provide incidence rate, experience modification rate, and loss ratio.
    
                 INCIDENCE                 EXPERIENCE            LOSS
 YEAR          RATE     MODIFICATION RATE         RATIO     
 2018           0.00                 0.9347           0.00%
 2019           2.56      0.9861           7.93%
 2020           2.48                 0.9146         33.72%
 2021           6.06                 0.7856         17.41%
 2022           3.61                 0.7028            93.78%*

 *This rate is based on one accident. Due to a reduced work-load, our premium paid was lower in 2022.

We maintain a safe jobsite. We have a full-time Safety Manager who visits each jobsite at least twice per month, and 
implement a Safety and Health Program on every project.  Our rates reflect between 0 and 2 incidents.  

05.  SAFETY

Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County intends to make a CMAR selection based on both qualifications and cost 
basis.  Please provide the following cost information.

a.   What is you cost for pre-construction services?

The Pre-construction Services Fee will be $10,000 lump sum.    

b.   What is your mark-up on subcontractors?

Subcontractor costs are “costs of the work” under the CMAR Agreement, as such the only “mark-up” is our CM 
Fee. 

b.   What is your mark-up on materials?

Material costs, including sales tax, are “costs of the work” under the CMAR Agreement, as such the only “mark-
up” is our CM Fee.

c.   What is your profit (fee)?

The CM Fee for this project will be 6% of Total Cost of the Work.

06.  COST INFORMATION

MHSC Laboratory Renovation & Addition
SAFETY / COST INFORMATION

Page 17 of 19 Groathouse Construction, Inc.
Proposal for CMAR Services154/179



07.  PRE-CONSTRUCTION SERVICES
a.   Identify your knowledge of the CMAR process and the pre-construction services your firm intends to provide?

Groathouse Construction has an extensive background in the CMAR process. We have successfully completed 
over one hundred projects using this delivery method. Our approach to this project, beginning with our                          
pre-construction services, would be to tackle it head-on with you and the design team. As your advocate, we 
will consistently look out for your best interest. 

During the pre-construction phase of the project, we will have pre-construction meetings periodically with you 
and the Design Team. Our first step will be to establish a kick-off meeting as soon as possible to coordinate the 
goals for the project and align our services to them.  Our CMAR services offer a builder’s point of view, which 
not only allow the entire team to make sound decisions about how to move forward and eliminate surprises on 
bid day, but ultimately reduces the need for change orders during construction. 

Based on the design provided, we expect to provide estimates at the following stages:  Design Development, 
50% Construction Documents, and GMP (95%) Construction Documents.  We anticipate there may be certain 
items that will need budget alignment and value engineering performed. We will collaborate with both you 
and the Design Team to ensure the project meets your needs and your budget, while maintaining function and 
constructability.  As with any project, the direction of design for mechanical and electrical systems could have a 
large variance on the project budget. We have long-standing relationships with both mechanical and electrical 
subcontractors who are available to provide input on systems, as well as estimates, should that be necessary. 

During pre-construction, we will also develop the site staging and phasing plans, as well as a plan for Infection 
Control Risk Assessment measures. We will provide a detailed plan early in the pre-construction phase to 
determine feasibility for phasing.  We will use a critical-path based scheduling software to consider all schedule 
conflicts that may affect the project budget, including potential weather delays, long lead time material items, 

MHSC Laboratory Renovation & Addition
COST INFORMATION / PRE-CONSTRUCTION

Page 18 of 19 Groathouse Construction, Inc.
Proposal for CMAR Services

d.   Explain your system of charging for General Requirements (cost of the work).

The detailed estimate provided with our GMP details all of the categories considered in our General Requirements. 
Each month, we will submit a report with our payment application that details the actual cost to date. 

At the end of the project, any cost under-run in our General Requirements will be returned to you; any cost over-
run will be absorbed by us.  

e.   Attach any rate sheets or listing of these services and charges typically used by your firm.

All costs by our firm are ‘open book’ and clearly identified in all estimates. 

f.   Describe any work you intend to self-perform.

Groathouse Construction, Inc. normally performs: estimating, planning and project scheduling, management 
and supervision, quality control, layout, rough carpentry, installation of doors and hardware, specialty items, 
equipment and furnishings, and clean-up.
 

Depending on circumstances and subcontractor availability, we have also performed: concrete slabs, concrete 
curb and gutter, steel erection, structural wood framing, structural metal framing, insulation work, dampproofing, 
water proofing, and gypsum drywall.

g.   Provide your labor rates for your staff.

 » Project Manager: $150/hr
 » Superintendent: $85/hr
 » Safety Manager: $65/hr ($2,092/mo billed on project)
 » Carpentry:  $50/hr
 » General Labor:  $35/hr

155/179



and construction durations.  This will develop the basis of our schedule, to ensure we provide an accurate 
substantial completion date.  

Our firm will provide a Final GMP at the 95% construction documents stage. This will include a detailed cost 
estimate and milestone dates.  As part of our estimate, we will develop detailed bid packages based off the 
construction documents.  This allows us to ensure complete coverage for each scope of work and outlines 
exactly what each bidder is expected to include in their price on bid day.  The GMP will be reconciled with 
the bids received to verify scope coverage and final construction costs.  Groathouse will not share in any cost 
savings that fall below the final GMP which becomes a part of the Construction Contract. All unused dollars (bid 
underrun and contingency) are returned to you at the completion of the project.  If costs exceed our GMP, we 
take 100% responsibility – the true meaning of Construction Manager AT RISK. 

Our pre-construction team will utilize our subcontractor database of qualified firms which will allow us to 
solicit interest from these companies and allow them access to electronic documents for bidding.  We will 
also advertise in the local newspaper. Any new bidders will need to complete our pre-qualification process; it 
is in your best interest and ours to investigate a bidder’s ability to perform and their current workload.  In days 
leading up to the bid, we will determine which bidders have received the plans, are bidding, and if not bidding 
the reason why.  We will also provide the list of interested and qualified bidders to you and the Design Team 
to review for additions or deletions prior to bid day. On the day and time determined, we will host a public bid 
opening. Even before it was required by state statute, we believed in conducting a public bid opening for bidders 
on our CMAR projects. We understood what it was like to be in the bidder’s shoes and wanted to build a trusted 
process for our negotiated projects. 

Bids received will be reviewed and evaluated for adherence to the bid packages and complete scope.  Groathouse 
Construction will provide a complete bid evaluation with our recommendations for award. 

a.   Please feel free to add any other information you feel is pertinent. 

Groathouse Construction, Inc. has successfully completed the following projects in Sweetwater County: 

 » Young at Heart Senior Citizen Center (Rock Springs)     Completed September 2009 $7.6M
 » Sweetwater County Child Development Center     Completed July 2013  $6.5M  
 » Green River High School Aquatic Center      Completed November 2014  $11.5M  
 » Green River Police Department       Completed August 2014  $4.7M  
 » Wilson Administration Remodel       Completed August 2017   $2.5M  
 » Sweetwater County Justice Center Expansion      Completed March 2018  $17M 
 » Fire Station #2 & Training Facility (Rock Springs)     Completed May 2018  $6.1M
 » Lincoln Middle School 6th Grade Wing Remodel     Completed September 2018 $2.2M  
 » Monroe Intermediate School Restroom Renovation     Completed August 2018  $215K  
 » Ciner Change House & Mtg Facility       Completed April 2020  $8M
 » SWCSD#2 Major Maintenance Projects      Completed August 2020  $5M
 » Ciner Gas Turbine Gen PEMB        Completed January 2020  $652K
 » Lincoln Middle School Locker Room Remodel     Completed August 2021  $538K
 » GRHS Culinary Program Renovation       Completed August 2022   $1.2M
 » Ciner 2022 Interior Renovations       Completed June 2022  $282K
 » SWCSD#2 Central Kitchen Renovation      Completion Scheduled Sep’24 $3.7M

We have also completed over 40 projects with Plan One/Architects in the last twenty years, of which over 70% 
were delivered as Construction Manager at Risk.  We have a long history of successfully completing work, and 
a good working relationship, with your chosen design firm. 

MHSC Laboratory Renovation & Addition
PRE-CONSTRUCT/SPECIAL CONSIDERATIONS

Page 19 of 19 Groathouse Construction, Inc.
Proposal for CMAR Services

08.  SPECIAL CONSIDERATIONS

156/179



3630 Big Horn Avenue, Cody, WY  82414
Phone: (307) 587-6610

Thank you

157/179



Executive Director Report
PROVIDED BY

REPORTING DATE

M
O

N
TH

 I
N

 R
EV

IE
W

FU
TU

R
E 

D
A

TE
S

FU
N

D
IN

G
R

EQ
U

ES
TS

Tiffany Marshall

October 2023 Foundation Monthly Board Meeting

Working with Ann, CNO, on Behavioral Health Unit Business Plan
Hosted community SWOT Analysis meeting. The attendees asked that we
continue to meet and discuss BH and improvements. 

Presented BH overview at the PULSE of Wyoming meeting. 
Attended the Aspen Academy of Healthcare Philanthropy conference in Michigan the
first weekend of October. This conference is geared towards supporting hospital
Foundations in rural areas. Matt Jackman attended as well. 
Wrapped up Casino Night.
Started Red Tie Gala planning. Have created a committee of hospital staff as well as a
few community members. 
Got the notification that we received a grant for approximately $550k for six new
ultrasound machines.
Rolled out the BEAT, the new monthly giving program. 
Received new Guardian Angel collateral. 

BH Business Plan is due October 31st. After the SWOT Analysis meeting, looking to
transition that project more to a County project with numerous collaborators. Still
aiming to meet deadline set, however, it will probably end up being a bigger
discussion with a revised business plan. 
Guardian Angel Program

April continues to promote the program to staff through Department meetings. 
Will start distributing new collateral.

Testimonial Project
Still working to record and finalize schedule.  Need to reschedule for some
board members. 

Monthly Giving Program
Rolled out 10/23/23 on social media. Please check out MHSCFoundation.com to
see the new program. 

Digital Foundation Newsletter
Working on design and messaging. Would like to get board feedback on content.

MHSC Master Plan- Received the quote for a Master Plan. Need to review with Irene
and the senior leaders. 
MHSC Christmas event- is being combined with the hospital’s 130th birthday.
Currently in the planning phases.
Red Tie Gala- approved e-bikes for raffle. Collateral is currently being printed. Email
will be sent in November. Invites will be sent in November. 

Currently confirmed, 3 Live Auction and 3 Silent Auction items. 

Wheelchair purchase request for MOB.
3 for Nephrology/Dialysis; 1 for Urology; 3 for ENT/Ortho/General Surgery; 2 for
Pulmonology/Internal Med/Neurology

Approximately $22K-$25K

C
U

R
R

EN
T 

PR
O

JE
C

TS

Rock Springs Chamber Rock Star Awards- November 3, 2023- Matt purchased
table for Foundation, for whoever is interested. 
Thanksgiving Staff Celebration- November, date TBD
Christmas Event- December 15,  2023
Red Tie Gala- February 3, 2024 (VIP is February 2, 2024)

158/179



159/179



160/179



161/179



162/179



163/179



164/179



165/179



166/179



167/179



168/179



169/179



170/179



171/179



172/179



173/179



174/179



175/179



176/179



177/179



178/179



179/179


	Agenda - November 1 2023 Mtg
	Mission and Vision
	Minutes
	Orientation Memo Template 2023 HR Charter Update Second Reading November 2023
	Human Resources Charter - September 2023 - With changes - to Board in November redline Final for approval
	Compliance committee charter update 2023 Second read for final approval November 2023
	Board Compliance Committee Charter-Draft-Changes 2023
	Governance Committee Charter update 2023 Second read for final approval November 2023
	Governance charter 2 sept 23
	Finance  Audit Committee Charter orientation memo 2023 Second reading for final approval November 2023
	Finance Audit Charter revised 092723 redlined
	Board Orientation Memo Template for Board Policy new services 2023
	BOT - Approval Process for Expansion of_or an Addition to Hospital Services - BOT - Approval Process for Expansion of-or an Addition to Hospital Services-Draft-Hist
	Residents In Training Policy
	Governance Committee
	Quality Committee
	Information Technology Report
	Finance &amp; Audit Committee Meeting Information
	Building and Grounds...Chair&apos;s Report...October 2023 Marty Kelsey
	23.10.17 Building and Grounds Comm Minutes
	Orientation Memo - CMAR approval
	CMAR PlanOne Recommendation letter
	CMAR scorecards
	CMAR APC Proposal
	CMAR Groathouse Proposal
	Foundation Board
	Clifton
	Stryker

